NEUROIMMUNE CONNECTIONS IN THE SPLEEN: A FIRST LOOK AT SPLEEN GLIA

A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED TO THE PROGRAM IN NEUROSCIENCES AND THE COMMITTEE ON GRADUATE STUDIES OF STANFORD UNIVERSITY IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Tawaun Autry Lucas February 2021

Tawaun Autry Lucas

Neuro PhD dissertation TLucas/Dedication

Abstract

Non-myelinating Schwann cells (NMSCs) are the most abundant cells in the peripheral nervous system. These cells ensheath the unmyelinated autonomic nerves innervating every visceral organ. However, outside of the enteric nervous system, very little is known about what they do. Glia are best studied in the brain, can support neurons and also modulate neuronal signaling and inflammation. In the peripheral nervous system, neuronal signaling itself may be a key immune modulator as immune organs are sympathetically innervated and stress modulates immune responses. Increased sympathetic signaling after stressful events results in profound changes in the spleen, the largest secondary lymphoid (immune) organ. For example, after a large stroke, sympathetic signaling within the spleen increases and leads to the death of B-cell populations. This thesis advances our knowledge of non-myelinating Schwann cells in the spleen (spleen glia), and how sympathetic innervation of the spleen may modulate inflammation. Chapter 1 provides an overview of what is known about the roles of the spleen and our sympathetic nervous system in inflammation. Moreover, we discuss what is known about how responses between the two systems are coordinated and what the possible key mechanisms are, particularly the importance of the splenic nerve. We also explore the role of glia in both the CNS, ENS, and PNS and mechanisms by which they alter neurotransmission and immunity. Chapter 2 contains a detailed immunohistochemical and transcriptomic characterization of spleen glia. Here I utilize immunohistochemistry to provide the first in depth characterization of the cells. This analysis reveals the expression of two common glial markers (GFAP and S100B), a close association with sympathetic nerves, vasculature and immune cells, as well as the density and location of the cells throughout the organ. I combine this with RNA-sequencing to further characterize spleen glia. I report that they express a host of glial genes, genes involved in neurotransmission as well as genes involved in immune responses. Lastly, I use the sequencing to provide a transcriptomic comparison of spleen glia to brain glia and enteric glia, determining that spleen glia are unique when compared to these different populations. In Chapter 3, I explore the relationship of spleen glia to the splenic nerve which they ensheath. Here, I utilize SARM1 knockout animals that are protected against Wallerian degeneration after nerve injury. The work here reveals robust physical changes to spleen glia indicating potential trophic factors involved in maintaining this relationship. Chapter 4 provides a summary of the findings reported in this dissertation and describes future studies. In total, this dissertation provides a deeper context to neuroimmune interactions in the spleen and the first characterization of a novel cell type, spleen glia.

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my nieces and nephews, Zaila Lucas, Zyion Lucas, Noah Lucas, and Dawaun Lucas Jr. I hope one day you choose the path of higher education and look to me as an inspiration.

Acknowledgments

I want to first and foremost thank my advisor, Dr. Marion Buckwalter, for accepting me into the lab on a project that was like no other and cultivating my passion for it. Even though the spleen seemed very odd in reference to everything going on in the lab, you jumped in head first with me learning more about immunology. I am especially grateful for you to allow me to develop a new passion and skill for bioinfromatics. Neither of us knew much about it but you trusted me to learn as much as I can and even allowed me to utilized my skills for other projects in the lab. I am so grateful for your scientific mentorship and guidance throughout these past 6 years.

In addition to being a great scientific mentor, you have also been such a great personal life and career mentor. I am so grateful for your support on the many diversity programs, outreach efforts and clubs I have participated in. Advocacy work has been a cornerstone of my PhD life and your support meant so much to me day in and day out.

I have also had the pleasure of working with many talented and generous scientists throughout my time in the Buckwalter lab. I want to give a huge thank you to the other member of the peripheral glia club Gabriela Suarez-Mier. Gaby you were a so important to my project early on and really got me going when i first joined the lab. I also want to acknowledge other OG Bucklab members who are all long gone and doing amazing things, Todd Peterson, and Kendra Lechtenberg. I have deeply enjoyed sharing in the vast and disparate knowledge each person has brought the group. Additionaly, to the new wave of Bucklab members who had to endure countless hours of me speaking about things that were way off base from where their projects were, Kristy Zera, Victoria Hernandez and Elizabeth Mayne. Lastly I would like to acknowledge Judy Zhu who was by my side the majority of the way as we struggled to isolate spleen glia. Your companionship and expertise were greatly appreciated.

Finally, I want to thank my friends and family for making the PhD far more fun than it had any right to be.

To my parents, for your undying support throughout my educational career, I am and always will be grateful for all that you've given me.

Contents

A	Abstract i Dedication i				
D					
A	cknov	wledgr	nents	vi	
Li	st of	Table	S	x	
\mathbf{Li}	st of	Figur	es	xi	
1	Intr	oducti	ion and Background	1	
	1.1	Introd	luction	1	
	1.2	The a	utonomic nervous system and inflammation	4	
		1.2.1	The parasympathetic division	4	
		1.2.2	The sympathetic division	6	
	1.3	Anato	my and function of the spleen	9	
		1.3.1	The white pulp	9	
		1.3.2	The splenic nerve	10	
	1.4	Immu	nomodulatory functions of the splenic nerve	12	
	1.5	Glia ii	n health and disease	14	
		1.5.1	CNS glia	14	
		1.5.2	PNS glia	16	
			1.5.2.1 Enteric glia	17	
	1.6	Overv	iew of dissertation	18	

2 Spleen glia are a transcriptionally unique glial subtype interposed between immune cells and sympathetic axons 21

2.1	Summary 2					
2.2	Introduction					
2.3	Results					
	2.3.1	Spleen glia express S100B and GFAP and ensheath sympathetic axons	25			
	2.3.2	Spleen glia form intricate networks around arterioles that are closely apposed to lymphocytes	28			
	2.3.3	Transcriptional profiling of spleen glia	30			
	2.3.4	Spleen glia express various neurotransmitter receptors	36			
	2.3.5	Pathway analysis reveals expected and potentially novel roles for spleen glia	37			
	2.3.6	Spleen glia exhibit similarities and differences compared to other glia	44			
2.4	Discus	sion	47			
2.5	Materials and Methods					
	2.5.1	Animals	55			
	2.5.2	Perfusion and tissue preparation	55			
	2.5.3	Immunohistochemistry and antibodies	56			
	2.5.4	Image acquisition	57			
	2.5.5	Dissociation and isolation of spleen glia	57			
	2.5.6	Quantitative RT-PCR	58			
	2.5.7	RNA isolation and sequencing	59			
	2.5.8	Mapping and analysis of RNA-sequencing data	60			
	2.5.9	Deconvolution and Expression Purification	60			
	2.5.10	In situ Hybridization	61			
	2.5.11	Gene expression comparisons	62			
	2.5.12	Experimental design and statistical analysis	63			

3	Inve nerv	estigati ve	ng the rel	ationsip	between	spleen	glia	and	the	spl	enio	65°
	3.1	Summ	ary									66
	3.2	Introduction										66
	3.3	Result	8									70
	3.4	Discus	sion									79
	3.5	Mater	als and Metl	nods								86
		3.5.1	Animals .									86
		3.5.2	Neurectomy	v Surgery						•••	•••	87
		3.5.3	Perfusion a	nd tissue	preparatior	1						88
		3.5.4	Immunohist	ochemisti	су							88
		3.5.5	Image acqui	isition and	d Quantific	ation .						89
		3.5.6	Statistical a	nalyses .								90
4	Conclusions									91		
	4.1	Summ	ary									91
	4.2	.2 Discussion .3 Future Directions							92			
	4.3					100						
	4.4	Final 1	Remarks									103
5	Ref	erence										105

List of Tables

2.1	Top 25 most differentially expressed genes in spleen glia. Log2 fold change is relative to whole spleen. FC, fold change; FDR, false	
	discovery rate; TPM, transcripts per million reads	35
2.2	Cell transcriptomes used for deconvolution comparison to spleen glia.	63

List of Figures

2.1	Gfap-cre, Rosa-eGFP reporter mice express GFP in GFAP- and S100B-expressing cells in the spleen.	27
2.2	Spleen glia ensheath sympathetic nerves in the spleen.	28
2.3	Spleen glia form networks that associate with vasculature	30
2.4	Spleen glia course through lymphocyte-containing white pulp.	31
2.5	Generating the spleen glia transcriptome.	33
2.6	Heatmaps of neurotransmitter receptors genes expressed by spleen glia.	38
2.7	Pathway analysis of significantly enriched spleen glia genes reveals roles in focal adhesion, axon guidance, and immune responses.	41
2.8	Confirmation of protein and RNA expression of selected glial, immune and neurotransmitter genes from the spleen glia transcriptome.	43
2.9	Transcriptome comparison between spleen glia and other glial types.	45
3.1	Evaluation of Neurectomy Surgery.	71
3.2	Neurectomy surgery reveals progressive loss of sympathetic axons with recovery at 28 days	74
3.3	Time course analysis reveals progressive glial cell injury after splenic neurectomy.	76
3.4	Wallerian degeneration of splenic nerve is protected after nerve transection in $Sarm1^{-/-}$ animals.	78
4.1	Proposed hypothesis of neuroimmune connections in the spleen	98

Chapter 1

Introduction and Background

1.1 Introduction

Glia are a set of diverse cell types in both the central and peripheral nervous system (CNS and PNS, respectively). Glia help to maintain homeostasis, facilitate neurotransmission, and offer trophic support to neurons. There is also evidence that neurons and glia communicate with immune cells and modulate the response to injury and infection. This is called "neuroimmune" communication. Specifically, neuroimmune signals can come directly from neurons to immune cells, or indirectly through other cells that act as mediators, such as stromal or glia cells. Both glia and neuroimmune communication is best described in the CNS. In the PNS, there is less known about the role of glia, but we do know they ensheath and myelinate autonomic nerves that innervate nearly every organ. The role of the autonomic nervous system in immune function has received increasing attention over recent decades-peripheral neuroimmune interactions have been implicated in many diseases such as multiple sclerosis (Heesen et al., 2007; Veiga-Fernandes and Artis, 2018), colitis (Tanaka et al., 2019; Delvalle et al., 2018a), and even cancer (Kuol et al., 2018b,a). Additionally, these interactions are also prominent after injury such as stroke and spinal cord injury (Ajmo Jr. et al., 2009; Brommer et al., 2016) and shown to be necessary for home-ostatic regulation (Veiga-Fernandes and Artis, 2018). However, precise mechanisms are largely unexplored.

Most of what is known about glia and immune signaling in the PNS comes from studying enteric glia, which are non-myelinating Schwann cells in the gut. Enteric glia can detect local levels of cytokines and respond through gliosis, an activated proliferative state marked by increase expression of GFAP and S100B (Sofroniew, 2009; Fawcett and Asher, 1999; Delvalle et al., 2018a). Upon activation, enteric glia contribute to the inflammatory response through secretion of cytokines and immunomodulatory molecules such as TNF, ATP, and S100B (Gulbransen and Sharkey, 2012). Additionally, they are able to distinguish pathogenic from probiotic bacteria and modulate their expression of pattern recognition receptors, such as Toll-like receptors, a seemingly gut specific role of glia that allows them to properly respond to exogenous threats (Gulbransen, 2014). However, it is not clear how enteric glia are regulated during many of these processes. Specifically, it is unknown what signals enteric glia receive to tell them to respond during inflammation or upon encountering pathogens or what cells support their changes.

There are many things that make studying neuroimmune interactions in enteric glia and the gut challenging. First, the gut contains several types of neuronal innervation and may have substantial glial heterogeneity as well. It receives innervation from both parasympathetic and sympathetic fibers and specific contributions from each arm are not clear (see "The Autonomic Nervous system and inflammation" below). In addition, the gut also has its own autonomous network, the enteric nervous system. It also contains areas of immune tissue known as Peyer's patches which are lymphoid follicles made up of B and T lymphocytes. Peyer's patches are directly innervated by nerves ensheathed by enteric glia, however there is not yet any data on how (or whether) glia within patches are different from other enteric glia. In addition, enteric glia also reside in a very unique environment which subjects them to immune responses due to changes in the epithelial barrier. The epithelial barrier is regulated by neuronal input (Costantini et al., 2010, 2012) and when bacteria cross the mucosal barrier this stimulates immune responses that complicate analyses of neuroimmune interactions.

Here, I focused on the spleen to more directly study peripheral neuroimmune interactions. It is primarily innervated by the sympathetic nervous system, removing the complication of two arms of the autonomic nervous system. It is well-studied in immune responses, and is the largest secondary lymphoid organ in the body. In this chapter we introduce the role of the autonomic nervous system and its role in the immune response with a specific focus on the sympathetic arm. We review studies of neuroimmune interactions in the spleen and what we know about how glia in both the central and peripheral nervous system are involved with a focus on peripheral glia.

1.2 The autonomic nervous system and inflammation

The autonomic nervous system is a division of our PNS that is not under our conscious control. It is traditionally split into two arms, parasympathetic and sympathetic which have complementary roles. The system functions through reflexes which originate in the brain stem, and propagate through the spinal cord and out to the peripheral organs (Waxenbaum and Varacallo, 2019). The autonomic nervous system utilizes two neurons to relay all signals; one preganglionic neuron synapses with one postganglionic neuron before innervating its target (Waxenbaum and Varacallo, 2019).

1.2.1 The parasympathetic division

The parasympathetic nervous system traditionally thought of as the "rest-anddigest" division, is active during times of rest, after eating during digestion, and is involved in sexual arousal. The preganglionic neurons originate in cranial nerves III, VII, IX, and X or the sacral spinal cord (Tindle and Tadi, 2020; Neuhuber et al., 2017) and utilize acetylcholine as their primary neurotransmitter. Additionally, parasympathetic tracts contain both afferent nerve fibers (carrying sensory information to the brain), and efferent nerve fibers (carrying information to internal organs). The vagus nerve, cranial nerve X, contains afferent sensory fibers originating in the nodose ganglion and efferent motor fibers originating in dorsal motor nucleus. This nerve contains approximately 90% afferent fibers (Berthoud and Neuhuber, 2000) and stimulates the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway, the most studied parasympathetic neuroimmune response.

The efferent vagus nerve regulates systemic cytokine levels through the α -7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor reported on T lymphocytes (Ren et al., 2018). Stimulating the vagus nerve has been shown to increase the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 systemically and attenuates the production of many proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF (Tsaava et al., 2020; Johnston and Webster, 2009). This effect is beneficial in animal models of diseases and disorders where overactive inflammation is harmful such as sepsis (Lei and Liu, 2016), rheumatoid arthritis (Koopman et al., 2016; Levine et al., 2014), and inflammatory bowel disorders (Meregnani et al., 2011). For example, rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a chronic autoimmune inflammatory disease primarily affecting the joints. In a mouse model of RA, stimulating the vagus nerve significantly decreases swelling of the ankle joint and serum levels of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF (Levine et al., 2014). While there are many parasympathetic fibers throughout the body not originating from the vagus nerve, the vagus nerve is the most extensive and most heavily studied

1.2.2 The sympathetic division

The sympathetic nervous system (SNS) is colloquially known as the "fight-orflight" division of the autonomic nervous system and is activated during times of stress. The short preganglionic neurons are cholinergic and originate in the thoracolumbar division of the spinal cord. They synapse in various ganglia within the sympathetic trunk and release acetylcholine. The long post-ganglionic nerves originate in ganglia and travel far distances to their target tissue and release various catecholamines (Alshak and M Das, 2019), and other molecules including ATP, a source of cellular energy but also serves a potent neurotransmitter in activating immune cells (Westfall et al., 2002), and NPY, the most abundant peptide in our nervous system and mostly serves as a vasoconstrictor (Tan et al., 2018). The sympathetic nervous system is extremely important for immune homeostasis (Bellinger et al., 2008). For example, sympathetic denervation of mice using 6-hydroxydopamine (6-OHDA), a neurotoxin selective to noradrenergic fibers, decreases proliferation of lymphocytes in the spleen and lymph nodes (Bai et al., 2011). Furthermore, co-administering 6-OHDA with desmethylimipramine blocks the uptake of 6-OHDA, and subsequent destruction of nerves. Doing so also mitigates the decrease in lymphocyte proliferation, indicating the necessity of sympathetic nerve communication for lymphocyte functioning.

While early studies identified the importance of the sympathetic nervous system, it is unclear if these effects were due to direct stimulation of sympathetic fibers to organs or via the sympathetically-mediated release of circulating catecholamines from the adrenal glands. Sympathetically-mediated immune suppression can be seen in many clinical examples including trauma to the nervous system, as in stroke and spinal cord injury (SCI). After both stroke and SCI, serum and plasma levels of epinephrine and norepinephrine are elevated as early as 6 hours and persists out to 2 weeks (Zhang, 2014; Faaborg et al., 2014) leaving both patients and animals susceptible to infections as immune cells begin to die (Pruss et al., 2017; Dirnagl et al., 2007). Treating animals with adrenergic blockers such as carvedilol or propranolol, two non-specific beta-adrenergic blockers, not only decreases the size of strokes (Ajmo Jr. et al., 2009), but also improves mortality and reduces their susceptibility to infection (McCulloch et al., 2017). This can also be seen in autoimmune diseases like multiple sclerosis (MS). In MS the immune system destroys myelin in the CNS resulting in destruction of nerves and subsequent loss of function. In a rodent model of MS called experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), ablating adrenergic nerves using the neurotoxin DSP4 prior to induction of disease significantly increases inflammation as well as the onset and severity of disease (Simonini et al., 2010). This indicates that sympathetic signaling is necessary for dampening inflammation and controlling disease progression as in the same animals stimulating them with the synthetic epinephrine precursor L-threo-3,4- dihydroxyphenylserine (L-DOPS) prevented further worsening.

There is thus significant research on the sympathetic nervous system and immune responses, yet much is still to be elucidated. It is still unclear how much direct innervation is involved in controlling inflammation locally and systemically. There is some evidence however that direct innervation may play a role in the spleen's response to infection and injury (see "Immunomodulatory functions of the splenic nerve" below). However, these studies do not exclude influence from circulating catecholamines. Nor do they examine the role of glia in mediating and modulatory effect. Indeed, with the notable exception of enteric glia, visceral glia have largely been excluded from studies. Here, I set out to begin to understand the interaction between nerves, immune cells and glia in the spleen.

1.3 Anatomy and function of the spleen

Found in all vertebrates, the spleen is the largest secondary lymphatic organ in the body. It is responsible for stimulating both humoral (secretion of antibodies and antimicrobial molecules) and cell mediated (cytokine release, phagocyte activation, and immune response) pathways. The spleen is compartmentalized into two main divisions, the red pulp and white pulp. The red pulp contains the majority of monocytes in the body (Den Haan and Kraal, 2012) and contains sinusoids filled with blood and macrophages that phagocytose old red blood cells.

1.3.1 The white pulp

The white pulp represents the immunological portion of the organ, where immune responses take place, and is further divided into T (periarterial lymphoid sheath) and B (follicle) lymphocyte zones. White pulp blood vessels are porous, facilitating antigen-lymphocyte interactions that initiate immune responses. All immune cells enter the white pulp through the marginal zone (MZ) (Bajénoff et al., 2008), a region considered to be a main responder for innate immune responses due to the large population of macrophages. Many of the macrophages housed in the MZ express specific receptors unique to their location which are known as pattern recognition receptors. Innate immune defense involves interactions between microbes and these specific receptors. Within the marginal zone of the white pulp is the B-cell corona (follicle). This space contains many of the B lymphocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells within the spleen, and contains the germinal center in which the B lymphocytes migrate to proliferate, differentiate and undergo somatic hypermutation. Adjacent to the marginal zone is the periarteriolar lymphoid sheath (PALS) region. This region is predominately home to T lymphocytes and other antigen presenting cells such as dendritic cells and macrophages and surrounds a central arteriole (Cesta, 2006). Interestingly, the white pulp is densely packed with lymphocytes, but there are small conduits, $<1 \ \mu m$ channels, that allow small molecules from the blood to interact with lymphocytes that are not directly adjacent to the blood vessels (Nolte et al., 2003). In addition to antigens, conduits are ideally situated to carry sympathetic neurotransmitters (norepinephrine and epinephrine, but also substance P and ATP) to lymphocytes. Therefore, they may be critical to facilitating neuroimmune communication as this conduit system provides a framework for directing lymphocytes through communication from locally produced and bloodborne molecules in the spleen.

1.3.2 The splenic nerve

The spleen is innervated by the splenic nerve, which contains 98% sympathetic fibers (Bellinger et al., 1989; Nance and Burns, 1989). First order preganglionic neurons originate from the intermediolateral gray column of the thoracic spinal cord synapse on second order neurons with cell bodies in the superior mesenteric ganglion that project into the spleen, forming the splenic nerve (Felten and Olschowka, 1987; Nance and Burns, 1989; Heusermann and Stutte, 1977). Although the extent of splenic nerve branching it is not completely clear, electron microscope studies have shown that branches of this nerve terminate in in the white pulp and come into close contact with immune cells (Murray et al., 2017; Felten and Olschowka, 1987; Heusermann and Stutte, 1977). The close proximity of nerve fibers to immune cells and the fact that immune cells express receptors for neurotransmitters released by the nerve suggests some role for sympathetics in the spleen. This is evident as large sympathetic events such as stroke, trauma or spinal cord injury induce profound splenic responses. One such response to these traumatic events is a splenic contraction in which increased sympathetic tone causes the spleen to dramatically shrink in size and dump its housed immune cells into circulation. This can be seen after stroke (Seifert et al., 2012; Offner et al., 2006), spinal cord injury (Brommer et al., 2016) and traumatic brain injury (Ritzel et al., 2018). Not only is this evident in rodent models, but humans as well, and has been characterized directly through injection of epinephrine (Bakovic et al., 2013). The immune response to increased sympathetic tone appears to be occurring in two phases. Generally, sympathetic stimulation appears to be proinflammatory in the acute phase, after which there is a depletion of spleen immune cells (splenocytes) that subacutely leads to increased risk of infection of the host (immunosuppression). Another example from stroke is sympatheticallymediated death of B lymphocytes, that also increases the susceptibility to infection (McCulloch et al., 2017). The immunosuppressive effects of sympathetic activation after stroke has led to a tremendous amount of attention in the past with clinical studies often showing conflicting results. This adds to the need for further dissection of neuroimmune responses, as infections after CNS trauma increase morbidity and mortality. Several aspects of this response are not well defined. As alluded to earlier, it is not clear how sympathetic tone interacts with immune cell state in the spleen (i.e. is sympathetic signaling alone enough to activate immune cells?), and the contribution of direct innervation by the splenic nerve versus indirect influences of sympathetic innervation to the adrenal glands are not known.

1.4 Immunomodulatory functions of the splenic nerve

As mentioned earlier, there is some research that hints that the nerve itself may be important. One example can be seen from studies injecting lipopolysaccharide (LPS) into animals. LPS is the major component of the cell wall of gram-negative bacteria. It binds toll-like receptors on immune cells which initiates an innate immune response, even without an active infection. After LPS is injected into mice, splenic nerve activity greatly increases and persists well over an hour after injection (MacNeil et al., 1996). However, it is not clear if this increase in nerve activity directly leads to immune cell activation. The result of LPS injections is subsequent systemic inflammation which can be measured by increases in both blood and splenic levels of TNF, IL-6 and IL-1 β . This effect can also be seen in models of "sterile inflammation" such as after stroke (Zhang, 2014; Pennypacker and Offner, 2015) and spinal cord injury (Pruss et al., 2017) where the sympathetic and inflammatory trigger is not exogenous.

The importance of the splenic nerve can also be seen in splenic responses after the nerve is transected (neurectomy). Injection of LPS into rats who have undergone splenic neurectomy leads to decreased inflammation (Rosas-Ballina et al., 2008; Vida et al., 2011) and decreased proliferation of lymphocytes (Bai et al., 2011; Madden et al., 1994). In a foot-shock stress paradigm that suppresses the function of immune cells in the spleen, splenic neurectomized rats are protected from stress induced loss of plaque-forming B-cells (MacNeil et al., 1996; Laukova et al., 2018). A similar regulatory effect can be seen in primary lymphoid organs such as bone marrow. Animals with denervated bone marrow have impaired hematopoiesis and regeneration Hanoun et al. (2015). This establishes that direct innervation to immune organs may play a crucial role in inflammation and immune responses.

However, there is also some research that suggests the splenic nerve is not important for splenic immune responses. One study seems to suggest that the sympathetic nervous system has no real effect on inflammatory outcomes after LPS. Rats who underwent splenic neurectomy, adrenalectomy or both, show no differences in proinflammatory cytokines TNF, IL-1 β and IL-6 after intravenous LPS injections (Meltzer et al., 2003). This suggests that some part of the spleen-mediated immune response may be removed from direct neural regulation. It may be that both hypotheses are true and that variations in experimental design tip the balance between the two influences. For instance, when comparing LPS studies, various LPS injection protocols (intraperitoneal vs intravenous), timing (1-12hr), species of LPS (*E.coli* strains vs *S. enterica*), animal model (mouse vs. rat) and genetic background all may contribute to varying results. Moreover, these studies do not acknowledge the potential role of glia in the spleen which likely influence interactions between the sympathetic nervous system and immune cells.

1.5 Glia in health and disease

1.5.1 CNS glia

Glia exist in both the central and peripheral nervous system. Not only do they provide support and nutrition to neurons and nerves, but they have a host of other capabilities including maintenance of the blood brain barrier, pathogen defense, neurotransmission, aiding digestion and myelination. Glia are best studied in the brain, where there are three main cell types: microglia, oligodendrocytes, and astrocytes.

Developmentally, microglia are immune cells resembling macrophages in many ways (Nayak et al., 2014). The primary function of oligodendrocytes is to wrap their cell membranes around axons of neurons to produce an insulation called myelin that aides in the propagation of neural electrical signals (Bradl and Lassmann, 2010). Finally, astrocytes are the most abundant glial cell type in the CNS (M Nedergaard, 2003). They are important for maintaining the blood-brain-barrier (Abbott et al., 2006; Davson and Segal, 1995), regulating vasoconstriction (Macvicar and Newman, 2015), and modifying neurotransmission via tripartite synapses (Perea et al., 2009). They can also produce calcium waves through neuronal release of neurotransmitters such as ATP and glutamate (Fujii et al., 2017; Scemes and Giaume, 2006; McCarthy and Salm, 1991). In addition, astrocytes can also participate in immune responses (Drögemüller et al., 2008; Lian et al., 2016). They have been shown to phagocytose unwanted debris (Jung and Chung, 2018; Wakida et al., 2018), secrete cytokines and chemokines to recruit immune cells to sites of injury (Choi et al., 2014; Xie and Yang, 2015), and express complement proteins implicating their role in innate immune responses (Lian et al., 2016; Pekny et al., 2007; Hartmann et al., 2019).

1.5.2 PNS glia

The peripheral nervous system (PNS) contains several distinct glial cell types. The main glial cell of the PNS, Schwann cells, exist in two forms: myelinating and nonmyelinating (Fallon and Tadi, 2019; Harty and Monk, 2017). Both types of Schwann cells have been described in many different tissues including olfactory ensheathing cells in the olfactory nerve, terminal glia (teloglia) located at axon terminals at the neuromuscular junction and sensory nerve endings in the skin, and satellite glia in the dorsal root ganglia. Myelinating Schwann cells are analogous to oligodendrocytes of the CNS, wrapping around nerves and producing myelin. While much work has been done defining their role in the periphery, much of what is known about myelinating Schwann cells came from initial studies on oligodendrocytes.

Non-myelinating Schwann cells are the most abundant cells in the peripheral nervous system (Griffin and Thompson, 2008). These cells ensheath the predominantly unmyelinated autonomic nerves that innervate visceral organs. However, nonmyelinating Schwann cells in visceral organs are not well studied. The exception to this is enteric glia.

1.5.2.1 Enteric glia

Enteric glia are the principal glia in the enteric nervous system. The enteric nervous system is a neural network in the gut wall that coordinates the reflex behaviors of the intestine. Enteric glia and astrocytes are thought to be analogous in many ways. They express similar proteins and perform many of the same functions, such as facilitating neurotransmission (Gulbransen, 2014) and regulating organ barrier (Savidge et al., 2007). Although enteric glia and astrocytes have many similarities, research has revealed specific transcriptional differences and morphologic heterogeneity that indicate enteric glia as a fundamentally unique glial type (Rao et al., 2015). It is of importance to note that in addition to neuronal heterogeneity in the gut, there are multiple subpopulations of glial cells throughout the gut that are all referred to as enteric glia. There are four subpopulations, differentiated by location and morphology (Gulbransen, 2014). Intraganglionic glia reside in the myenteric and submucosal ganglia and are star-shaped with short, irregularly branched processes that morphologically resemble astrocytes of the CNS. Interganglionic glia, those within interganglionic nerve tracts, have elongated processes resembling fibrous astrocytes of the white matter tracts. Mucosal glia reside below mucosal epithelial cells and have several long-branched processes. Lastly, intramuscular glia are associated with nerves and smooth muscle cells, and are elongated run along nerve fibers in muscles. Each of the subtypes reside in very unique microenvironments contributing the heterogeneity of morphology but their molecular differences are not known (Grubišić and Gulbransen, 2017). Enteric glia are known to play a role in gut pathophysiology. They interact with both innate and adaptive arms of the immune system to contribute to local inflammation. They express toll-like receptors (Turco et al., 2014) and upregulate MHCII mRNAs during disease states, such as in Chagas disease (Von Boyen and Steinkamp, 2010). They also have the ability to release nitric oxide, an inhibitory neurotransmitter (Cerantola et al., 2020). This data suggests a complex interaction between nerves, immune cells and enteric glia.

A similar interaction is likely in other visceral organs but not studied. Because of our interest in sympathetically-mediated immune responses we chose to study the glia that are in the spleen. Due to uniform innervation, we hypothesized that glia in the spleen may be more homogeneous than in the gut. Outside of early electron microscope studies identifying their presence in the spleen (Heusermann and Stutte, 1977; Barlow-Anacker et al., 2017), spleen glia were fairly uncharacterized at the start of my work.

1.6 Overview of dissertation

This dissertation thus focuses on improving our understanding of spleen glia, as well as their relationship to the nerve. In chapter 2, I use immunohistochemistry to define the location of spleen glia in relation to the splenic nerve, vasculature, and immune cells. In addition, I validate a transgenic reporter mouse expressing GFP under the GFAP promotor which may be used to visualize spleen glia, along with two antibodies that label spleen glia. I also for the first time sequence their transcriptomes and describe mRNAs they express that are involved in communication with the nerve fibers and immune cells. Lastly, I compare spleen glia transcriptomes to various brain and peripheral glia defining that they are a unique glial population which may be more heavily involved in immune responses. The work here is a comprehensive description of these cells and is an essential first step to elucidating their role in neuroimmune responses in the spleen.

In chapter 3, I develop a surgical model to injure the splenic nerve in order to define the relationship between spleen glia and the splenic nerve. Utilizing transgenic *Sarm1 -/-* mice, whose nerves are protected from Wallerian degeneration, I subject animals to splenic nerve cut (splenic neurectomy) and see the loss of nerves in wild-type animals. I report preliminary studies that in wild-type animals but not *Sarm1* knockouts there is also significant injury to the ensheathing spleen glia. This chapter reveals robust physical changes to spleen glia indicating potential trophic factors involved in maintaining this relationship between spleen glia and peripheral nerves.

The work provided in this dissertation lays a foundation for understanding neuroimmune interactions in the spleen. The advancements presented here will hopefully inform the ultimate goal of identifying a cellular target which might be manipulated in order to gain control of peripheral inflammation during disease and injury.

Chapter 2

Spleen glia are a transcriptionally unique glial subtype interposed between immune cells and sympathetic axons

The following chapter includes all text and figures from the following publication, of which I am the first author.

Lucas, T., Zhu, L., Buckwalter, M.(2020). Spleen glia are a transcriptionally unique glial subtype interposed between immune cells and sympathetic axons. Glia. In review.

TAL performed tissue collection, immunohistochemistry, qPCR and bioinfromatic analysis. TAL and LZ performed cell dissociation. TAL and MSB conceived experimental plan and wrote manuscript.

2.1 Summary

Glia are known to play important roles in the brain, the gut, and around the sciatic nerve. While the gut has its own specialized nervous system, other viscera are innervated solely by autonomic nerves. The functions of glia that accompany autonomic innervation are not well known, even though they are one of the most abundant cell types in the peripheral nervous system. Here, we focused on nonmyelinating Schwann cells in the spleen, spleen glia. The spleen is a major immune organ innervated by the sympathetic nervous system, which modulates immune function. This interaction is known as neuroimmune communication. We establish that spleen glia can be visualized using both immunohistochemistry for S100B and GFAP and with a reporter mouse. Spleen glia ensheath sympathetic axons and are localized to the lymphocyte-rich white pulp areas of the spleen. We sequenced the spleen glia transcriptome and identified genes that are likely involved in axonal ensheathment and communication with both nerves and immune cells. Spleen glia express receptors for neurotransmitters made by sympathetic axons (adrenergic, purinergic, and Neuropeptide Y), and also cytokines, chemokines, and their receptors that may communicate with immune cells in the spleen. We also established similarities and differences between spleen glia and other glial types. While all glia share many genes in common, spleen glia deferentially express genes associated with immune responses, including genes involved in cytokine-cytokine receptor interactions, phagocytosis, and the complement cascade. Thus, spleen glia are a unique glial type, physically and transcriptionally poised to participate in neuroimmune communication in the spleen.

2.2 Introduction

Glia play important and complex functional roles in both the central (CNS) and peripheral (PNS) nervous systems. In the brain, astrocytes integrate and process synaptic information and control synaptic transmission and plasticity (Perea et al., 2009). On the other hand, enteric glia in the gut modulate gut motility via bidirectional signaling with neurons, altering smooth muscle cell contraction (Grubišić et al., 2018). While the gut has its own specialized nervous system, a division of the autonomic nervous system, other visceral organs are innervated solely by autonomic (sympathetic and parasympathetic) and sensory nerves. The functions of non-myelinating glia that accompany autonomic innervation are not well known, despite being one of the most abundant cell types in the PNS (Griffin and Thompson, 2008). Although the structure and function of glia in each visceral organ is relatively unknown, they are likely specialized to the nerves they accompany and the organs in which they reside. This may be particularly important for glia in immune organs such as the spleen, in which the nerves ensheathed by glia come in close contact with immune cells (Felten and Olschowka, 1987), potentially positioning them to contribute to neuroimmune crosstalk.

Non-myelinating Schwann cells in the spleen (spleen glia) associate with axons and are derived from the neural crest (Barlow-Anacker et al., 2017; Felten and Olschowka, 1987; Heusermann and Stutte, 1977). The spleen is the largest secondary lymphoid organ and plays a vital role in detecting bloodborne antigens and conferring immunologic memory. It is innervated by the splenic nerve which is predominantly sympathetic. The sympathetic nervous system modulates immunity (Bellinger et al., 2008; Bucsek et al., 2018; Deng et al., 2004; Miller et al., 2019), and epinephrine and norepinephrine released from the adrenal glands and sympathetic nerves within organs act on adrenergic receptors expressed by immune cells (Miller et al., 2019; Klehmet et al., 2009; Pruss et al., 2017). An example of this in the spleen occurs after stroke, when the sympathetic nervous system mediates the death of B-lymphocytes, thus increasing the susceptibility to infection (McCulloch et al., 2017). Given the well-described functional roles of other glia such as altering neurotransmission, releasing cytokines and chemokines, and phagocytosis, spleen glia may serve to modulate this and other neuroimmune interactions in the spleen. However, a complete characterization of their localization within the organ and their anatomical interactions with other cell types is lacking. Additionally, the genomic identity of spleen glia is unknown. A comprehensive anatomical and transcriptomic description of spleen glia is therefore essential to determine if they are localized near immune cells, whether they express
receptors and other genes that might be used for neuroimmune crosstalk in the spleen, determine what other processes they may mediate, and to begin to understand how similar they are to other glial types.

Thus, in our research we utilized immunohistochemistry and spleen glia reporter mice to characterize the anatomy and morphology of spleen glia, including their anatomical interactions with sympathetic axons and immune cells. In addition, we generated a transcriptome of spleen glia to define which mRNAs they express and infer possible functions. Lastly, we compared the transcriptome of spleen glia to that of other CNS and PNS glia to determine similarities and differences between different glial cell types.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Spleen glia express S100B and GFAP and ensheath sympathetic axons

We began by defining the relationship between spleen glia, nerves, blood vessels and immune cells in the spleen. To achieve this, we utilized a peripheral glia reporter mouse (C57BL/6J *Gfap*-cre, *Rosa26-eGFP*) in which pulmonary glia were labelled with GFP (Suarez-Mier and Buckwalter, 2015). We first wanted to define where GFP expressing cells were in relation to the greater spleen architecture. To determine this we stained spleen sections for DAPI to mark all cell bodies and performed low-power tile-scan imaging. We see that GFP⁺ cells primarily reside in white pulp regions and around arteries (Figure 2.1 A). To verify that this reporter mouse also expressed GFP in spleen glia, we immunostained spleen sections for two glial markers, GFAP and S100B. We observed GFP-expressing cells with an elongated morphology that coimmunostain for both glial markers in the spleen (Figure 2.1 B&C). The GFP reporter was sensitive and specific: $92 \pm 1.5\%$ of GFAP expressing cells expressed GFP, and $99 \pm 0.47\%$ of GFP expressing cells co-immunolabeled for GFAP. Additionally, we found that S100B strongly labels spleen glia with high sensitivity, labelling 100% of GFP-expressing cells. The antibody also very weakly labels a subset of macrophages in the spleen, likely due to its known cross-reactivity with S100A6.

The spleen is innervated by the splenic nerve, which itself is comprised of sympathetic axons that originate from cell bodies in the superior mesenteric ganglion. In general, unmyelinated peripheral nerves can be uniformly associated with glia or have naked terminals (Forbes et al., 1977; Novi, 1968). To assess the association of spleen glia and axons, we immunostained spleen sections for two nerve markers: tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) and protein gene product 9.5 (PGP 9.5). The former is unique to sympathetic and dopaminergic nerves, and the latter is a marker specific to neural and neuroendocrine cells (Figure 2.2). We observed elongated GFP-expressing spleen glia



Figure 2.1: *Gfap*-cre, Rosa-eGFP reporter mice express GFP in GFAPand S100B-expressing cells in the spleen.

(A) Low power tile scan of *Gfap*-GFP reporter mouse counterstained with DAPI. Circles and stars represent white pulp regions. Spleen glia can be seen to mostly reside in white pulp regions. Scale bar, 100 μ m. Representative photomicrographs of 40 μ m thick spleen sections from *Gfap*-GFP reporter mice immunostained for (B) GFAP and (C) S100B. Scale bars, 20 μ m. WP, white pulp; RP, red pulp.

tightly associated with axons (within 1 µm) expressing both TH (Figure 2.2 A&B) and PGP 9.5 (Figure 2.2 C&D), with the two existing <1um away from each other. Glia tightly intertwined around axons, and we also observed occasional slight axonal protrusions that appear to come to the surface of the glia. These may represent varicosities described in EM experiments where neurotransmitters are postulated to be released through glial fenestrations. Additionally, upon measuring concordance between glia and axons we observed that all glia (100%) were associated both TH⁺ and PGP 9.5⁺ immunolabeled axons in those respective separate stains, while 97.45 \pm 0.85% of TH⁺ axons and 98.0 \pm 0.66% of PGP 9.5⁺ axons were associated with glia. This result reveals that glia inside the spleen are exclusively associated with sympathetic axons, and that nearly all splenic nerve axons are physically associated





Representative photomicrographs of 40 μ m thick sections of spleen. GFP expression is closely associated with nerves expressing tyrosine hydroxylase (TH)(A&B) This close relationship can also be seen using a pan-neuronal marker protein gene product 9.5 (PGP 9.5) (C&D) Both panels show the tight association between nerve and glia. The morphology suggests that axonal protrusions containing neurotransmitter vesicles (TH stain) may protrude out of a fenestrated glial sheath (arrows). Scale bars = 20 μ m (A&C), 5 μ m (B&D).

with glia.

2.3.2 Spleen glia form intricate networks around arterioles that are closely apposed to lymphocytes

The splenic nerve enters the spleen at the hilum, traveling on the outside of the splenic artery. Sympathetic fibers accompany the artery as it branches into fenes-trated arterioles that course through the white pulp of the spleen. Fenestrated arterioles have a discontinuous endothelial lining (Aird, 2007), which, where present, can

be visualized with the endothelial marker CD31. We observed glia and nerves forming intricate networks around arterioles which were discontinuously lined by CD31expressing endothelial cells (Figure 2.3). To verify that the glia and nerves were located around the splenic arterioles in the white pulp we immunostained spleen sections for T and B lymphocytes (Figure 2.4). Interestingly, we observed that glia favor T lymphocyte regions as staining reveal prominent residence in these locations followed by branching towards B cell zones (Figure 2.4). Spleen glia are in white pulp regions ; 90% of the time, and 100% (63/63) of white pulp regions contain glia. Glia that were not in white pulp are around larger arteries in the red pulp at the edge of white pulp regions (Figure 2.4 A). Arterioles are surrounded by a meshwork of glia as they travel in the peri-arteriolar lymphoid sheath, or PALS region, where CD3⁺ T lymphocytes are housed, and continue to be ensheathed as they course into B220⁺ B lymphocyte follicles (Figure 2.4 A&B). Thus, there is a close physical relationship between the glia, nerves, and lymphocytes. However, we did not observe a similar close association with IgM⁺ marginal zone B-cells, we instead saw that the glia are primarily in adjacent regions (Figure 2.4 F). Also, the red pulp, which receives its blood supply after arterioles have become capillaries and contains primarily monocytes, macrophages, and red blood cells, exhibited very sparse staining for nerves or glia.



Figure 2.3: Spleen glia form networks that associate with vasculature. Representative photomicrographs of 40 μ m sections of spleen depicting thickened processes of spleen glia wrapping around CD31⁺ vessels. (A) Network of glia and nerves closely associate with a continuously lined artery in the spleen. These networks course through white pulp regions and wrap around smaller arteries within PALS regions (B) and can also be seen with thickened processes around larger vessels (C). Scale bars, 20 μ m

2.3.3 Transcriptional profiling of spleen glia

Our anatomical characterization of spleen glia demonstrates that they are physically juxtaposed between axons and lymphocytes poised to receive molecular signals emanating from the bloodstream (e.g. antigens). This close physical relationship means it is possible that glia participate in neuroimmune signaling and are also likely to provide physical and potentially nutritional support to axons. To determine whether they express genes consistent with these or other functions, we performed RNA sequencing. As described in Materials and Methods, spleen glia were sizeselected from spleens of C57BL/6J mice, and total RNA was obtained (Figure 2.5 A)



Figure 2.4: Spleen glia course through lymphocyte-containing white pulp.

Representative photomicrographs of 40 μ m sections of spleen depicting spleen glia throughout PALS and B-cell follicles. Low power tile scan spleen section showing spleen glia within white pulp regions throughout the spleen. Spleen glia can be seen in close proximity to T-cells in the PALS regions and around the central arteriole (A&C) and within B-cell follicles (B&C). The tubular networks of glia branch within B-cell follicles (B), and course through the T-cell-rich PALS regions (D). Scale bars, 100 μ m (A), 20 μ m (B-D); PALS, periarterial lymphoid sheath; CA, central arteriole. from size-selected spleen glia. Prior to sequencing, RT-qPCR was carried out to confirm expression of known markers of peripheral glia (*S100b* and *Sox10*). Both markers were enriched in the size-selected spleen glia RNA vs. whole spleen RNA, with \log_2 fold increases of 5.4 ± 0.88, and 5.3 ± 1.2, respectively (Figure 2.5 B). In addition, we observed depletion of protein tyrosine phosphatase, receptor type, C (*Ptprc*) with \log_2 fold decrease of -1.5 ± -0.65. Ptprc is a type I transmembrane protein that is present on all differentiated hematopoietic cells and encodes the immune cell marker CD45. These results indicate that our size selected cells were strongly enriched for glia and de-enriched for immune cells. We selected 8 samples (4 male & 4 female) aged 8-12 weeks that were highly enriched for glial markers *S100b* and *Sox10* (\log_2 fold enrichment >5) for RNA sequencing analysis.

We next utilized cellular deconvolution to further increase specificity for spleen glia genes in our dataset. Deconvolution is a bioinformatic approach that allows researchers to determine the fraction of a cell-type in bulk sequencing data (Kang et al., 2019; Newman et al., 2019). Deconvolution analysis revealed that our sequenced samples contained majority glial cells (mean = $73\% \pm 4\%$). All white blood cell types combined accounted for <2% of all genes, while endothelial cells represented the bulk of the contaminating cells, approximately 18% (Figure 2.5 C). Signature gene sets from contaminating cells were then subtracted in proportion to each cell type's contribution in their corresponding bulk sample, and the newly generated purified





(A) Strategy for isolating and obtaining spleen glia transcriptome and spleen glia enriched gene set. (B) Quantitative real-time PCR of reverse-transcribed genes from RNA selected from size-selected spleen glia prior to RNA sequencing. We observed enrichment of two peripheral glial markers (*S100b*, *Sox10*) and deenrichment of *Ptprc*, which encodes the cell surface marker CD45 that is expressed on all immune cells. (C) Cell-type deconvolution results after RNA sequencing demonstrate cell-type proportions in bulk samples prior to purification. (D) Enrichment of glial, immune cell, and endothelial cell genes in the spleen glia transcriptome after post-deconvolution purification. Error bars, SEM.

spleen glia transcriptomes were used for downstream differential expression analysis.

To define spleen glia-specific genes even more stringently within the purified spleen glia transcriptome, we used an enrichment cutoff of \log_2 fold >3.5 (FDR <0.01). We refer to this set of stringently selected genes as "spleen glia enriched genes". Expression cutoff was tested through sensitivity as described in the methods and was determined to be optimal. The \log_2 fold >3.5 enrichment compared to whole spleen was chosen after we examined fold enrichment of genes common to glia, immune cells and endothelial cells. Differential expression analysis reveals \log_2 fold enrichment >5 of peripheral glial genes Sox10 and S100b over whole spleen (Figure 2.5 D). Furthermore, there is similar enrichment of other known glial genes including Atp1b2, G_{ja1} (Connexin 43), and Plp1. We then checked for contamination of known markers of immune cells and endothelial cells. Analysis demonstrated that immune cell genes Ptprc, T-cell specific (Cd3) and B-cell specific (Cd19) genes were de-enriched, with \log_2 fold < -1. Furthermore, we saw only marginal enrichment of endothelial cell specific genes, with \log_2 fold increases of about 2. We thus chose \log_2 fold > 3.5 for further downstream analysis.

Using the expression cutoffs, we established a "spleen glia enriched genes" list containing 2,202 genes. (Table 2.1) lists the top 25 enriched genes. Several genes

2.3. RESULTS

Gene Name	Description	$\begin{array}{c} Log_2\\ FC \end{array}$	FDR	Spleen Glia TPM	Whole Spleen TPM
Pde2a	phosphodiesterase 2A, cGMP-stimulated	20.83	1.73E-11	1.165	0.000
Tnc	tenascin C	9.78	2.08E-24	6.005	0.009
Gabrq	GABA A receptor, subunit theta	9.51	6.37E-32	4.743	0.004
Tmem88b	transmembrane protein 88B	9.47	5.23E-25	3.361	0.000
Nlgn3	neuroligin 3	9.24	9.55E-29	1.900	0.000
Fzd2	frizzled class receptor 2	9.06	1.87E-29	2.378	0.000
Sbspon	somatomedin B and thrombospondin, type 1	8.75	2.40E-28	5.591	0.010
Flnc	filamin C, gamma	8.75	9.53E-20	1.206	0.000
Tnnt2	troponin T2, cardiac	8.70	3.59E-15	8.041	0.013
Col6a3	collagen, type VI, alpha 3	8.69	2.70E-61	9.384	0.014
Csmd1	CUB and Sushi multiple domains 1	8.68	3.46E-26	1.760	0.001
Sfrp5	secreted frizzled-related sequence protein 5	8.66	2.78E-16	15.894	0.030
Pi15	peptidase inhibitor 15	8.54	1.57E-27	2.565	0.006
Kcne4	potassium voltage-gated channel subfamily E, gene 4	8.51	4.65E-28	20.511	0.050
Gpr20	G protein-coupled receptor 20	8.47	8.94E-23	4.655	0.011
Fam151a	family with sequence similarity 151, member A	8.43	1.29E-22	5.106	0.011
Bmp3	bone morphogenetic protein 3	8.40	7.09E-20	1.015	0.000
Grem1	gremlin 1, DAN family BMP antagonist	8.32	2.09E-20	1.640	0.003
Capn 6	calpain 6	8.30	1.06E-20	1.243	0.000
Pcdhb11	protocadherin beta 11	8.30	1.94E-24	1.160	0.000
Epha8	Eph receptor A8	8.29	1.78E-22	1.064	0.000
Cadm2	cell adhesion molecule 2	8.29	3.12E-14	3.300	0.019
Thbs2	thrombospondin 2	8.28	3.54E-24	14.551	0.038
Kcna5	potassium voltage-gated channel, 5	8.25	2.41E-20	2.851	0.008
Ppp1r3c	protein phosphatase 1, regulatory subunit $3C$	8.23	6.93E-25	2.366	0.004

Table 2.1: Top 25 most differentially expressed genes in spleen glia. Log2 fold change is relative to whole spleen. FC, fold change; FDR, false discovery rate; TPM, transcripts per million reads.

on this list are expressed in both PNS and CNS glia, including potassium voltagegated channels *Kcne4* and *Kcna5*, indicating that spleen glia, like enteric glia and astrocytes, may be involved in homeostatic regulation of extracellular potassium. Moreover, we see robust expression of Neuroligin 3, a cell adhesion molecule involved in maintaining the glial sheath around peripheral nerves (Gilbert et al., 2001), and Tenascin 3, a glycoprotein necessary for gliogenesis (Wiese et al., 2012). Additionally, we examined this gene set for sex differences. However, there were few significant differences (data not shown), so we pooled all samples for the remainder of analysis.

2.3.4 Spleen glia express various neurotransmitter receptors

Our immunohistochemical characterization demonstrated that spleen glia were always associated with sympathetic axons. Considering this, we next investigated how the nerve and glia might communicate. We searched for genes encoding receptors of molecules known to be released by sympathetic axons including norepinephrine (NE), and to a lesser extent epinephrine (EPI), purines, and neuropeptide Y. We examined all receptors for these three neurotransmitters that were present in the whole spleen and the spleen glia transcriptome (Figure 2.6 A). We indeed observed significant expression and enrichment of various adrenergic receptors in spleen glia compared to whole spleen. Of the adrenergic receptor subtypes, the β^2 -adrenergic receptor was most highly expressed by spleen glia. The β^2 -adrenergic receptor is also expressed by astrocytes, enteric glia, and Schwann cells. In addition, our data showed that spleen glia highly express α -adrenergic receptors, three of which are highly enriched compared to whole spleen (Adra1b, Adra1d, and Adra2c). This is notable because the α 1-adrenergic receptor has a higher affinity for NE than EPI (Rang et al., 2016) and the splenic nerve predominantly releases NE (Kirpekar and Misu, 1967).

Spleen glia were also more enriched for Neuropeptide Y receptor 1 expression than whole spleen RNA. Neuropeptide Y is primarily released by sympathetic nerves in the PNS (Tan et al., 2018). Expression of its receptor in Schwann cells has already been validated (Park et al., 2015). Its exact role, however, has not been fully elucidated.

Spleen glia also enrich for several purinergic receptors (Figure 2.6 A). ATP has long been recognized as an intracellular energy source, but it is also a potent extracellular neurotransmitter co-released by sympathetic nerves (Westfall et al., 2002). Purinergic signaling in glia has been linked to glial proliferation, motility, and survival as well as cytokine signaling and injury responses in Schwann cells and astrocytes. *P2ry2* was the most highly enriched purinergic receptor subtype. This subtype has known functions in astrocytes inducing activation and release of inflammatory molecules (Erb and Weisman, 2012).

2.3.5 Pathway analysis reveals expected and potentially novel roles for spleen glia

Spleen glia likely serve similar functions as other peripheral glia, such as ensheathing and supporting nerves, guiding axons during axon outgrowth and response to injury and disease. However, they may serve other functions as well. To assess their likely functions in an unbiased fashion, we carried out pathway analysis on the spleen glia enriched gene list (TPM>1; $\log_2 FC > 3.5$; FDR < 0.01) (Figure 2.7).

Interestingly, one of the most highly enriched pathways was the focal adhesion pathway (Figure 2.7 A). Spleen glia highly expressed several known focal adhesion



Figure 2.6: Heatmaps of neurotransmitter receptors genes expressed by spleen glia.

Boxes to the right of each gene are colored according to expression level in spleen glia (left) and whole spleen (right). Bolded gene names indicate genes that are highly enriched in spleen glia compared to whole spleen ($\log_2 FC > 3.5$, TPM > 1, FDR < 0.01). Neurotransmitter receptor genes known to encode receptors for sympathetic nerve messengers. Spleen glia express neurotransmitter receptors for norepinephrine (adrenergic receptors), neuropeptide Y, and ATP. TPM, transcripts per million; FDR, false discovery rate.

genes such as thrombospondins and laminins (Figure 2.7 B). Both molecules have known functions in other glial cell types and activate downstream Pi3k-Akt signaling, which is also enriched in spleen glia. For example, thrombospondin-2 expression in astrocytes is necessary to regulate synaptic adhesion (Christopherson et al., 2005). In addition, spleen glia express ErbB receptors, which suggests they are active participants in NRG1-ErbB2/3 signaling, a fundamental cell adhesion signaling pathway between Schwann cells and axons (Newbern and Birchmeier, 2010). Another known function of Schwann cells is facilitation of axon guidance, and pathway analysis also determined that this process is significantly enriched in spleen glia. Genes for ephrins, semaphorins, and plexins were extensively represented (Figure 2.7 C). Members of these gene families are described in so-called "repair" Schwann cells that promote axonal regrowth after injury (Koncina et al., 2007).

Glia may have organ specific functions, and spleen glia reside in an organ that is heavily involved in immunity. Accordingly, we hypothesized that spleen glia may be active partners in mediating immune responses. Indeed, AGE-RAGE signaling, cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction and complement cascade signaling were among the top 10 enriched pathways (Figure 2.7 D-F). Each of these pathways are driven by expression of immune relevant genes including cytokines and chemokines, interleukin's and their receptors, and complement proteins. Interestingly, although some cytokines and chemokines are enriched in spleen glia, many of the most enriched genes are receptors. For example, the gene for Gp130 (Il6st) is enriched, and critical for astrocyte activation and ability to control infection in the brain (Drögemüller et al., 2008). Gp130 is a receptor that associates with a number of cytokine receptors to transmit signals to JAK/STAT3 or 5. Spleen glia express many of these gp130 co-receptors, including Osmr, Cntfr, Il6ra, and Lifr, implying that spleen glia likely respond to oncostatin and/or IL31, Cntfr, IL6, and LIF, respectively. Several transcripts for cytokines and chemokines including Il34, Il7, and Cxcl13 are also enriched in spleen glia, as are the TBG β family members Tgfb2, Gdf6 and Gdf10.

We next selected genes from our dataset to validate that they are expressed in spleen glia. We assessed two genes that are glial-specific, Connexin 43 (Gja1) and proteolipid protein (Plp1). Connexin 43 is a gap junction protein present in astrocytes and enteric glia (Bhave et al., 2017; Brown et al., 2016). Immunostained sections demonstrate that an anti-connexin 43 antibody labels cells with a glial location and characteristic morphology throughout the spleen (Figure 2.8 A). PLP1 has been shown to be highly expressed in enteric glia and was highly enriched in spleen glia. We utilized Plp1-eGFP animals and counterstained spleen sections with both GFAP (Figure 2.8 B) and S100B (Figure 2.8 C) antibodies. As with our Gfap-GFP reporter mouse, we observe high-colocalization of both GFAP and S100B with PLP-GFP (99% 1.7, 99.7% .577 respectively).



Figure 2.7: Pathway analysis of significantly enriched spleen glia genes reveals roles in focal adhesion, axon guidance, and immune responses.

Figure 2.7: (A) Bar graph representing the top 10 KEGG Pathways in spleen glia. Numbers to the right of bars indicate the number of genes enriched in glia / total gene number in the pathway. (B-F) Heatmaps of genes in these KEGG pathways that are enriched in spleen glia (left) with expression in whole spleen (right), colored by expression level in transcripts per million (TPM, see scale). (B) The Focal Adhesion KEGG pathway contains thrombospondins, laminins, and Erb-B receptors.(C) Selected genes from the Axon Guidance KEGG pathway, many with known roles in axonal support by other peripheral glia cell types. (D-F) Selected genes from the immune-related KEGG pathways–AGE-RAGE signaling, Cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction, and Complement cascade. All genes used in KEGG analysis are from the spleen glia enriched gene set ($\log_2FC > 3.5$, TPM>1, FDR<0.01 compared to whole spleen).

To verify enrichment of immune related genes in spleen glia we focused on Cxcl13 (Figure 2.8 D). Cxcl13 encodes a B lymphocyte chemoattractant and was previously shown to be expressed by follicular dendritic cells and a subset of T lymphocytes. Using RNAscope, we labeled Cxcl13 and Gja1 RNA in spleen sections. We observed $Cxcl13^+$ puncta in various locations throughout the organ as expected, and interestingly some glia did co-localize while others did not . Overall, 10% of $Cxcl13^+$ cells colabelled with $Gja1^+$ puncta and 30% of Gja1 puncta were associated with Cxcl13 puncta. Thus, Cxcl13 is enriched in spleen glia even though it is also expressed by other rare cell types in the spleen.

To confirm expression of neurotransmitter related genes we focused on Npy1r(Figure 2.8 E). Neuropeptide Y(NPY) is primarily produced by sympathetic neurons but has been shown to be produced by macrophages. Signaling through the Npy1rreceptor can attenuate inflammation. We hypothesized that signaling in spleen glia



Figure 2.8: Confirmation of protein and RNA expression of selected glial, immune and neurotransmitter genes from the spleen glia transcriptome.

(A-C) Representative photomicrographs of 40 μ m thick spleen sections stained for (A) connexin 43 (Cx43, or Gja1) demonstrating characteristic spleen glia morphology and anatomy. (B-C) *Plp1*-GFP reporter mice immunostained for (B) GFAP and (C) S100B. (D&E) Representative *in situ* hybridization images of 12 μ m thick spleen sections labelled with Gja1 (Cx43) and (D) Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 13 (*Cxcl13*) and (E) Neuropeptide Y receptor type 1(*Npy1r*). Circles represent outline of cell bodies, arrows denote cells that are double positive while stars represent cells that are *Gja1* positive only. Scale bars, 20 μ m.

may be linked to regulation of inflammation. We observed expression of Npy1r puncta

throughout the organ and upon quantification we observe that 20% of $Npy1r^+$ cells

colabel with Gja1 and 29.2% of Gja1 puncta colabel for Npy1r puncta.

2.3.6 Spleen glia exhibit similarities and differences compared to other glia

To elucidate differences between glial cell types, we compared the spleen glia transcriptome to publicly available transcriptomes of astrocytes, oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs), oligodendrocytes, and enteric glia outlined in (Table 2.2). Z scores were calculated for each gene, plotted on a heatmap, and cell types were arranged after unbiased hierarchal clustering analysis (Figure 2.9 A). Spleen glia shared many genes with all these glial cell types and were most similar to enteric glia. Clustering analysis identified five unique gene groupings across all the cell types. We performed pathway analysis on the genes in each cluster (Figure 2.9 B).

Cluster 1 was highly expressed in CNS glia compared to PNS glia. The pathways enriched in this cluster represent GABAergic, glutamatergic and dopaminergic synapse signaling, all present in the CNS but perhaps not dominant in the PNS. Cluster 2 represented genes enriched in OPCs and astrocytes but not oligodendrocytes. Hedgehog signaling was the most abundant pathway of this cluster and has known roles in both cell types. It is involved in the formation of mature oligodendrocytes from OPCs, and the regulation of inflammation by astrocytes (Allahyari et al., 2019; Laouarem and Traiffort, 2018).



Figure 2.9: Transcriptome comparison between spleen glia and other glial types.

(A) Z-score Heatmap of transcriptomic data from five glial types after hierarchical clustering analysis identified five main clusters. Each row is one gene, and color represents relative expression of that gene in the cell type of its column compared to its expression levels in all other cell types. (B) Bar graphs representing top KEGG Pathways from each cluster.OPC, oligodendrocyte precursor cell; Astro, Astrocyte; Oligo, Oligodendrocyte; E. Glia, Enteric Glia. Cluster 3 represented genes that are downregulated in enteric glia compared to spleen glia and Cluster 4 was upregulated in enteric glia compared to spleen glia. Pathways were least significant for these two clusters, possibly due to more shared genes and functions between all cell types. However, Cluster 3, composed of the genes with the lowest expression in enteric glia, contained immune genes found in spleen glia as well as other glial cell types, including those in the "chemokine signaling" and "NF- κ b signaling" pathways. Both pathways suggest a role for spleen glia in immune regulation. There is also extensive evidence that OPCs and astrocytes use chemokines to regulate myelination and inflammation in the CNS. Genes in Cluster 4 were generally lower in spleen glia and predominately enriched in enteric glia. The top pathway here was "oxidative phosphorylation," a process which ultimately leads to the production of ATP.

Cluster 5 contained genes that were uniquely enriched in spleen glia over other glial cell types. The top enriched pathway within this cluster was "cytokine-cytokine receptor interactions," which included genes encoding cytokine and chemokine receptors and their respective ligands. This finding suggests that spleen glia may be more involved in initiating and responding to inflammation than other glial types. Additionally, Cluster 5 contains genes in the phagosome pathway, which is notable because phagocytosis is a central process in inflammation and defense against virus and bacteria. Expression of genes for the toll-like receptor gene Tlr2 and antigen processing gene *Tap1* specifically seem to suggest the utilization of toll-like receptor promotion of ER-mediated phagocytosis (Desjardins, 2003).

This is consistent with pathway analysis on the enriched spleen glial genes alone and implies that spleen glia may be directly involved in both innate and adaptive immune responses. Although further research needs to be done to determine exact mechanisms, we have demonstrated that spleen glia are anatomically and genetically poised to participate in immune responses in the spleen. The processed spleen glia transcriptome, after deconvolution, is available as a resource for future study (https: //buckwalterlab.shinyapps.io/SpleenGlia/).

2.4 Discussion

Here we provide an in-depth anatomical and transcriptional characterization of spleen glia, while identifying a mouse reporter as a tool to study them. Spleen glia are elongated cells visualized using immunostaining for four common glial markers GFAP, S100B, PLP1, and Cx43/Gja1. They maintain a tight association with nerves, are predominantly in white pulp regions, and come into close contact with lymphocytes. We identified genes involved in the ensheathment of axons and communication with both nerves and immune cells. Spleen glia express many genes in common with other glial types but express immune genes more highly. This transcriptome is a first step

towards better understanding spleen glia and implies that spleen glia are unlikely to function solely as support cells for axons. Rather, they are most likely active players in neuroimmune communication and function.

Spleen glia have a uniform morphology forming dense networks that ensheath sympathetic axons. Another study describing immunohistochemical localization of spleen glia (Ma et al., 2018) used a GFAP antibody that exhibited more widespread staining than we observe. In addition to the cells we observe, they observe extensive staining throughout the red pulp and marginal zone that is not present in our reporter mice, or our GFAP or S100B stains, and is not adjacent to axons. Because we don't see this staining with any of our methods, we believe that their immunostaining reflects some background contamination.

Interestingly, the axonal morphology we observe at higher power appears to show protruding varicosities from axons with less glial coverage at these sites. This is similar in appearance to axon varicosities described in literature, where glia form fenestrations at sites of neurotransmitter release (Burnstock, 2008; Douglas and Ritchie, 1962). In this case, the target cells for sympathetic neurotransmitters are likely immune cells, glia, and vascular smooth muscle cells.

Glial ensheathment of axons is likely maintained through several molecular signaling pathways. For instance, spleen glia express ErbB receptors, important for the Neuregulin 1 (Nrg1)-ErbB2/3 receptor cascade that facilitates Schwann cell-axon interactions. Neurons produce Nrg1 which interacts with ErbB2/ErbB3 receptors on glia. This is critical for Remak cells, a type of non-myelinating Schwann cell ensheathing small axons such as C-fibers (Harty and Monk, 2017). Loss of Nrg1 in sensory axons results in more axons per Remak bundle and reduced Remak cell ensheathment. This pathway likely functions similarly in spleen glia, determining which and how many axons become ensheathed. Spleen glia also express Neuroligins, a family of cell adhesion proteins expressed in other glial types. Neuroligin 3 is a vertebrate gliotactin necessary for the development of the glial sheath in the PNS of Drosophila melanogaster (Gilbert et al., 2001). Furthermore, loss of astrocytic Neuroligin 2 leads to a decrease in both astrocyte size and cortical excitatory synapses (Stogsdill et al., 2017). Neuroligins likely also function similarly in spleen glia to tether and ensheath axons.

Spleen glia and sympathetic axons course around arteries and arterioles in the spleen, typical for sympathetic innervation throughout the body. In the spleen, lymphocyte-rich white pulp regions surround arteries. The anatomical location of spleen glia suggests involvement in immune responses. Pathway analysis supports this as well. We carefully considered whether our spleen glia transcriptome is contaminated by genes from immune cells in the spleen. Although we cannot eliminate the possibility of any contamination by immune cells, our initial results on size-selected cells prior to deconvolution and purification indicates low contamination of immune cells (<2%). There is also de-enrichment of cognate immune cell genes for lymphocytes, white blood cells, MHC class II, and immunoglobulin genes. We also considered whether there was bleed-through of cytokine and chemokine gene expression from the whole spleen. Of the top five expressed chemokines and cytokines in whole spleen, four are de-enriched in spleen glia (*Ccl5*, *Ccl4*, *Tgfb1*, and *Ccl6*). The remaining one, *Cxcl1*, didn't meet our cutoff of enrichment (log₂fold = 2.6) in spleen glia but is also expressed by both astrocytes and Schwann cells (Ni et al., 2019; Ntogwa et al., 2020).

More work will be needed to elucidate the true role of spleen glia in immune responses. However, immune gene expression is not unique to spleen glia; for example, astrocytes and Schwann cells also express complement proteins (de Jonge et al., 2004; Lian et al., 2016). The complement cascade functions to initiate and propagate inflammation. Spleen glia may participate in the alternative complement pathway, as they differentially express complement factors Factor B and H (Hoffman and O'Shea, 1999). Moreover, spleen glia express pro-inflammatory cytokines that are upregulated during complement activation, such as *Nos* and *Il6*, both expressed in astrocytes (Hamby et al., 2006; Van Wagoner et al., 1999). Since we generated our spleen glia transcriptome in the absence of immune stimulation, the expression of these cytokines suggests they serve homeostatic immune functions. Our data also demonstrate high expression of *Il15* by spleen glia (TPM=11.8), which promotes long-term proliferation of activated T-cells (Sprent et al., 2000).

A limitation of this study is our isolation protocol. Due to the size, shape and density of spleen glia, common RNA isolation protocols produce RNA at lower quality and quantity than what is needed for next-generation sequencing. In developing our isolation protocol, we found that the cells are rare, that RNAses are high in the spleen (limiting the usefulness of RiboTag ribosomal pulldown methods), and that FACS sorting pulverizes the cells. However, we took advantage of the large size of spleen glia to develop a size-selection method that yielded sufficient quantity and purity of glial RNA. We utilized a stringent bioinformatic approach including cellular deconvolution and expression cutoffs to maximize the specificity of our gene lists.

A notable casualty of this stringent approach was Gfap. Although the Gfap promotor was effective at labeling spleen glia for anatomical characterization, we discovered that its RNA expression level was too low to make it a reliable genetic marker. It was undetectable in 3 of 8 whole spleen samples with average TPM of 0.24, and expression level of 1.2 in spleen glia. This is consistent with enteric glia literature that describes Gfap expression to be lower than other glial markers such as S100b and Plp1 (Rao et al., 2015). The low level of Gfap RNA may indicate that, as in the brain, GFAP is a highly stable protein that remains for long periods of time without robust gene expression (Rolland et al., 1990). There are likely other glia-specific proteins that are excluded from our final "highly enriched" transcriptome as our methods were designed to err on the side of specificity so that we would be confident that this set of genes is indeed enriched in spleen glia. The cutoff of log₂ fold-enrichment >3.5 means genes in our final dataset are at least 11-fold more highly expressed in spleen glia than in whole spleen. We validated the expression in spleen glia of three glial-specific genes that are in this "highly enriched" dataset using immunohistochemistry; S100B, Plp1, and Cx43. Cx43 and Cx47 are also known to be expressed in enteric glia higher than Gfap, (Grubišić and Gulbransen, 2017; McClain et al., 2014)], while myelinating glia express Cx32 and Cx47 (Freidin et al., 2009; Nualart-Marti et al., 2013).

Spleen glia expressed many genes in common with other glial cell types, including receptors for neurotransmitters that facilitate communication with neurons and nerves, including purinergic and adrenergic receptors (Lecca et al., 2012). In sympathetic nerves, ATP is released as a co-transmitter alongside NE. Signaling through purinergic receptors induces various responses in glial cells depending on receptor subtype and context. For example, signaling through P2X ion channels induces a pro-inflammatory response in enteric glia and astrocytes (Bhave et al., 2017; Gandelman et al., 2010), while signaling through P2Y G-protein coupled receptors induces proliferation of astrocytes (Quintas et al., 2011) and calcium responses in enteric glia (Brown et al., 2016). Spleen glia express both subtypes and the necessary machinery for calcium signaling, including the gap junction gene connexin 43, suggesting that they may similarly have calcium waves induced by purinergic signaling.

Adrenergic signaling in glia affects inflammation, behavior, and disease, most studied in astrocytes. For example, $\beta 2$ adrenergic signaling in astrocytes initiates TNF induced inflammation (Laureys et al., 2014), while $\alpha 2$ receptors stimulate GABA release to suppress neuronal activity (Gaidin et al., 2020). Spleen glia highly express both subtypes, with $\alpha 1$ receptors being the most differentially expressed. Adrenergic signaling in the spleen is important in immune cell activation and proliferation (Bai et al., 2011; Madden et al., 1994). As in astrocytes, adrenergic signaling in spleen glia likely plays a role in altering transmission to target cells such as immune cells. Since many immune cells also express adrenergic receptors, cell-specific knockout experiments will help us understand their role in spleen glia.

This work is an essential first step towards understanding neuroimmune communication in the spleen and uncovering organ-specific differences amongst nonmyelinating Schwann cells. We demonstrated that spleen glia form extensive networks throughout the white pulp of the spleen, are transcriptionally unique, and are likely involved in neuroimmune communication. Our data also provides a starting point to explore what markers are distinct in spleen glia. In addition, we can now ask what changes occur in spleen glia during active immune responses, and whether they regulate neuroimmune communication. One question of interest for the future is whether spleen glia are like non-myelinating Schwann cells in other secondary lymphoid organs such as lymph nodes and Peyer's Patches, and another is how they resemble non-myelinating Schwann cell in other visceral organs, and other unmyelinated peripheral nerves. However, due to the lack of data on non-myelinating glia in visceral organs this is yet unknown. We speculate that there is likely to be heterogeneity. For example, peripheral glia ensheathing parasympathetic versus sympathetic nerve fibers may express different neurotransmitter receptor genes. Large differences may exist depending on the local environment of glia. Enteric glia associated with intrinsic neurons of the gut in different layers may be somewhat different while being more clearly distinct from those in Peyer's patches, bone marrow, thymus and lymph nodes, or those ensheathing unmyelinated nerves in the sciatic nerve. Future work will shed light on this and define any molecular and functional differences. The reporter mouse used in this study and the web application we created for exploring the transcriptome data provide critical tools to aid these future studies.

2.5 Materials and Methods

2.5.1 Animals

All animal procedures were performed in accordance with the protocol approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Stanford University. C57BL/6J mice aged 8 to 12-weeks were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME, and utilized for all studies: *Gfap*-Cre (JAX#12886) and Rosa26 eGFP (JAX#4077).*Plp1*-GFP animals were graciously provided to us by Meenakshi Rao at Boston's Children's Hospital.

2.5.2 Perfusion and tissue preparation

Mice were anesthetized with 6% chloral hydrate in PBS and terminally perfused through the left ventricle with 10–20ml of cold 0.9% heparinized saline (10 units/ml). Spleens were collected and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate buffer overnight then transferred to 30% sucrose in phosphate buffer until sunken, usually overnight. PFA-fixed spleens were sectioned in both sagittal and coronal planes using a freezing sliding microtome to generate 40 μ m thick sections (Microm HM430).

2.5.3 Immunohistochemistry and antibodies

Immunohistochemistry was performed on PFA-fixed free-floating tissue sections using standard protocols. Sections were washed in Tris Buffered Saline (TBS) and blocked with 5% serum for 1 hour. Primary antibodies were diluted in 0.1% Triton X-100 and 3% serum and applied overnight at room temperature. We used the following primary antibodies: rabbit anti-GFAP at 1:3,000 (Dako), rabbit anti-S100B at 1:500 (Dako), rabbit anti-TH at 1:500 (Millipore), rabbit anti-Pgp9.5 at 1:500 (Cedarlane), hamster anti-Cd3 at 1:500, rat anti-B220 at 1:500, rat anti-Cd31 at 1:100 (BD), biotinalayted goat anti-IgM 1:500 (ThermoFisher). The following day, the sections were rinsed extensively with TBS and incubated with a fluorescent secondary antibody for 5 hours. Secondary antibodies were all used at 1:500 and include donkey anti-rabbit and rat anti-hamster. To ensure that there was no non-specific binding of secondary antibodies, control sections were incubated with secondary antibody alone. With the exception of the S100B antibody, all primary antibodies yielded the expected morphology and no significant background staining. The S100B antibody exhibits known weak cross-reactivity with S100A in macrophages, which is easily distinguished in the spleen by weaker staining and a macrophage morphology. Sections were washed in TBS then wet-mounted with Vectashield hard set mounting media with DAPI (Vector Labs) and coverslipped.

2.5.4 Image acquisition

Sections were imaged using 40x, 1.15 numerical aperture and 63x, 1.30 numerical aperture oil objectives on a Leica TCS SPE confocal microscope using Leica Application Suite Advanced Fluorescence software. Stacked images of fluorescent spleen sections were reconstructed using ImageJ (NIH), and Photoshop (Adobe) software was used to change brightness and contrast of the images. In each case all settings were applied equally to each color channel. To quantify double labeling, we used an unbiased approach. For example, to examine whether GFP expression in GFAPcre-GFP mice was present in GFAP⁺ cells, spleen sections from three animals were immunostained for GFAP with an Alexa Fluor 555-conjugated secondary antibody. When a GFP-expressing cell was identified in the green channel, the channel was switched to red to determine whether it also stained for GFAP. Conversely, to evaluate which percent of GFAP immunostained cells express GFP, GFAP⁺ cells were identified in the red channel then the channel switched to green to score GFP expression. Each mouse contained three replicates and 100 cells were counted for each of these analyses.

2.5.5 Dissociation and isolation of spleen glia

Spleens from mice aged 8-12 weeks were removed, minced, resuspended in 4ml of dissociation buffer (HBSS, 10 mM HEPES, 1.4 mg/ml Collagenase A, 0.4 mg/ml

DNase I, 5% FBS) and incubated with constant agitation at 37°C for 1 hour. After the hour, Dispase II (2 mg/ml) was added and the samples were incubated for an additional 30 min. Upon completion, 5 mM EDTA was added to the sample and incubated at room temperature for 5 min and subsequently centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. Red blood cells were lysed with 1 ml of ACK buffer (Giboco) for 5 min at room temperature and diluted with 13 ml of cold PBS + 5% FBS before another centrifugation at 1000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. The cell pellets were resuspended in 5 ml of PBS + 5% FBS and passed through a 40-micron cell strainer. After washing with 5 ml of PBS + 5% FBS, the remaining cells on the cell-strainer ("size-selected"), were lysed using 500 ul of RLT buffer (Qiagen). RNA from size-selected and whole spleen samples from each animal were purified using the Qiagen RNeasy Micro Plus kit.

2.5.6 Quantitative RT-PCR

RNA was reverse transcribed using the Invitrogen SuperScript[®] III First-Strand Synthesis System and used for qPCR using SYBR on the Applied Biosystems[™] QuantStudio[™] 6 Flex Real-Time PCR System. The standard protocol was used, and all reactions were performed in triplicate with *Gapdh* (F: ACTCTTCCACCTTCGATGCC, R: TGGGATAGGGCCTCTCTTGC) as a housekeeping gene. Primers used were: *S100b* (F: GGTTGCCCTCATTGATGTCTT, R: TTCGTCCAGCGTCTCCAT), *Sox10* (F: CAAGCTCTGGAGGTTGCTG, R: TGTAGTCCGGATGGTCCTTT), and *Ptprc* (F: GGGTTGTTCTGTGCCTTGTT, R: GGATAGATGCTGGCGATGAT). All primers were validated in house using a combination of literature, BLAST and control samples. The $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method was used to quantify fold enrichment of size-selected cells over whole spleen samples (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001).

2.5.7 RNA isolation and sequencing

Cell homogenates from whole spleen and size-selected samples were sequenced from 8 animals (4 male, 4 female) approximately aged 8-12 weeks of age. Quality and quantity of RNA was measured using the Agilent Bioanalyzer PicoChip, and only samples that yielded a RIN number > 9.0 were used. Total RNA (5ng) was then reverse transcribed using the SMART-Seq v4 Ultra Low Input RNA Kit for Sequencing (Clontech), which generates high-quality cDNA from ultra-low amounts of total RNA. Libraries were then constructed from synthesized cDNA using the Nextera XT DNA Library Preparation Kit (Illumina) for RNA-Sequencing. Libraries were sequenced on the Illumina HiSeq 4000 platform to obtain 150bp paired-end reads.

2.5.8 Mapping and analysis of RNA-sequencing data

Approximately 20-30 million 150bp reads were obtained from all 16 (8 size-selected, 8 whole spleen) samples. These reads were trimmed of adapter sequences, low quality bases, and very short reads using trimGalore! (v0.4.5), a wrapper script which utilizes cutadapt (Martin, 2011) and FastQC (v0.11.7). Remaining reads were aligned to the mouse mm10 genome (GRCm38.p6) using the STAR aligner (Dobin et al., 2013) (v2.7.1), which utilizes an algorithm that minimizes alignment time, mapping errors, and alignment biases. Transcript abundances were then annotated and quantified using the RSEM software package (Li and Dewey, 2011) (v1.3.1). Differential gene expression analysis was then carried out using the DESeq2 (Love et al., 2014) (v1.26) package within the R environment. Transcripts with low abundances (<10 counts for any of the samples) were excluded from analysis. Plots were generated using ggplot2 (v3.2.1).

2.5.9 Deconvolution and Expression Purification

To determine the proportion of contaminating cells in our size-selected samples, we obtained reference sequencing data from cells likely to be contaminating our samples. Cell type comparison data was obtained from publicly available RNAsequencing datasets on Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO; https://www.ncbi.nlm.
nih.gov/geo/). Cell types and sources can be found in (Table 2.2). Samples were chosen based on data generated from non-transgenic animals who had not undergone any experimental manipulations beyond saline or PBS injections. Gene counts from collected data were used as a reference sample in CiberSortX (Newman et al., 2019), a digital cytometry program which deconvolves cell types based on signature genes generated from reference samples. Signature genes and proportions generated by CiberSortX were used to scale and purify expression in size-selected samples by imputing cell expression from glia samples. The newly generated expression files were used for downstream differential expression analysis.

To define spleen-glia specific genes we used a fold-change cutoff of >3.5 to assure that only genes highly enriched in glia were considered. This cutoff was tested by sensitivity analysis through changing the cutoff $\pm 25\%$ and seeing no changes in the data interpretation.

2.5.10 In situ Hybridization

In situ hybridization was carried out using commercially available fluorescence detection assays and probes (RNAScope) according to the manufacturer's specification. Spleens were perfused, drop fixed in 4% PFA for 24 hours, sunk in 30% sucrose, and then embedded in OCT at -80°C until sectioning. Spleens were sectioned at 10um and tissue was used within 2 months. Quantification was carried out to determine concordance between gene probes of interest. Each probe was imaged on at least three different animals. Three images were taken per section and cells were counted as positively stained if there were three or more puncta associated with a DAPI positive nucleus. For each quantification, at least 1000 cells were counted in each animal to determine the percentage of positive cells.

2.5.11 Gene expression comparisons

To compare the gene expression of spleen glia to that of other glial cells, gene counts were generated for astrocytes, oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs), oligodendrocytes, enteric glia and spleen glia following the analysis outlined above. Counts were normalized and z-scores were then calculated for each gene and plotted using the ComplexHeatmap Package with default settings in the R environment. Gene clusters were generated using k-means clustering after silhouette computation determined that five clusters were optimal. This partitioning was then used in plotting as a split variable.

Cell Type	Organ source	# of Replicates	Experimental Manipulation	Reference
Astrocyte	Brain	2	At rest	(Zhang et al., 2014)
B-cells	Spleen	50	At rest	(Schaum et al., 2018)
Dendritic Cells	Spleen	50	At rest	(Schaum et al., 2018)
Endothelial	Brain	2	At rest	(Zhang et al., 2014)
Endothelial	Lymph Node	6	At rest	(Berendam et al., 2019)
Enteric Glia	Gut	2	At rest	(Rao et al., 2015)
Enteric Glia	Gut	3	Saline injection	(Delvalle et al., 2018b)
Macrophages	Spleen	50	At rest	(Schaum et al., 2018)
Neurons	Brain	2	At rest	(Zhang et al., 2014)
NK cells	Spleen	50	At rest	(Schaum et al., 2018)
Oligodendrocyte	Brain	2	At rest	(Zhang et al., 2014)
OPC	Brain	2	At rest	(Zhang et al., 2014)
Smooth Muscle	Heart	6	At rest	(Dobnikar et al., 2018)
T-cells	Spleen	50	At rest	(Schaum et al., 2018)

Table 2.2: Cell transcriptomes used for deconvolution comparison to spleen glia.

2.5.12 Experimental design and statistical analysis

The aim of this study was to establish a complete characterization of spleen glia, and identify similarities and differences between them and other glia. Immunohistochemistry utilized three sections from three animals for a total of nine replicates per stain. Transcriptional profiling was done on eight total animals with four replicates for each sex of both spleen glia and whole spleen samples. Statistical details can be found in the section entitled "Mapping and Analysis of RNA-sequencing", above. Raw transcriptome datasets generated from size-selected cells and whole spleen were uploaded to GEO (Accession # GSE151856) as both read counts and differential expression tables. To improve visualization of the complete processed data set after deconvolution, a web application was developed; this can be found at https://buckwalterlab.shinyapps.io/SpleenGlia/.

Chapter 3

Investigating the relationsip between spleen glia and the splenic nerve

Tawaun A. Lucas & Marion S. Buckwalter

TAL performed all surgeries, tissue collection, and immunostaining. TAL and MSB conceived of the study, designed the experiments and wrote the manuscript.

3.1 Summary

The spleen is innervated by a single sympathetic nerve. While the sympathetic nervous system is generally known to alter immune responses, the contribution from direct innervation versus circulating catecholamines is not well understood as past studies have been variable. There are many factors that contribute to variability in research, and one of them includes the lack of a consistent model to study the effect of direct innervation to the spleen. Furthermore, many past studies have failed to investigate the role of glia in neuroimmune communication within the spleen. In this chapter we set out develop a surgical methodology to perturb direct sympathetic signalling in the spleen and investigate the subsequent glial response. We show that we can successfully transect the splenic nerve in a mouse model. Upon investigating the changes to glia, we observed that the cells appear to die by day 10 post nerve transection. Demonstrating an effective technique to block direct sympathetic signalling in the spleen, this work will be pivotal for allowing us to uncover interactions between glia, nerve and immune cells in the spleen.

3.2 Introduction

The spleen is innervated by a single nerve, splenic nerve, that is comprised of 98% sympathetic fibers (Bellinger et al., 1989; Heusermann and Stutte, 1977). The nerve

originates in the superior mesenteric ganglion and travels to the spleen wrapped around the splenic artery (Bellinger et al., 1989). Upon entering the organ, the nerve remains around the artery and arterioles, which branch extensively after entering the spleen. While sympathetic signaling globally is thought to be largely antiinflammatory, the effect due to direct innervation of the spleen is not well understood.

Some studies suggest that the nerve is active during inflammation and may be contributing to the subsequent cellular and humoral responses. For example, a dose dependent increase in splenic nerve activity can be seen after intravenous LPS injections into rats (MacNeil et al., 1996). However, studies transecting the nerve (neurectomy) during inflammatory responses have shown variable results. LPS-stimulation of pro-inflammatory TNF by the spleen is attenuated by splenic neurectomy (Rosas-Ballina et al., 2008), but splenic neurectomy after intermittent foot shock also protects animals from sympathetically meditated immunosuppression, measured by loss of plaque forming B lymphocytes and immune cell proliferation (Laukova et al., 2018). Finally, some studies have shown no effect of neurectomy. Rats injected i.v. with LPS exhibited no measurable differences in TNF, IL-1 β or IL-6 after splenic neurectomy, adrenalectomy or a combination of the two (Meltzer et al., 2003). Additionally, splenic neurectomy does not affect sympathetically-mediated splenic contraction after stroke (Ajmo Jr. et al., 2009). One source of variability may be due to the animal models used for experimentation. Small animal surgery is extremely difficult so many studies utilizing neurectomy opt to utilize larger rodents (i.e. rats or guinea pigs), allowing for better visualization and easier transection of the nerve. However, many of the experiments measuring splenic inflammatory responses after LPS, injury and disease have been in mice. And although rats are bigger than mice, mice offer far more superior genetic models. The first recombinant mouse model was identified in 1987, compared to 2010 for the first recombinant rat model. The use of transgenic models allows researchers far more precise manipulations of protein expression to test their effects on clinical outcomes. This leaves a need for the development of a splenic neurectomy surgery in a mouse model. In addition, many of the studies exclusively focus on nerve-immune cell interactions in the spleen, excluding the presence and influence of glia during these responses.

As we reported in Chapter 2, non-myelinating glia potentially contribute greatly to the local inflammatory milieu in the spleen. However, little to nothing is known about spleen glia and their relationship to the nerve. Our data revealed a close physical relationship and several potential nerve-glia signaling mechanisms that may be involved in maintaining their close relationship. Typically, Schwann cells around peripheral nerves respond to denervation through a complex de-differentiation process and cell-type switch which allows the cells to support axon regeneration (Jessen and Arthur-Farraj, 2019). This is best studied in the sciatic nerve. However, enteric glia may also support nerve re-growth. Like astrocytes, enteric glia are active participants at enteric synapses and respond to neuronal activity (Rühl et al., 2004; Gulbransen and Sharkey, 2012). Upon denervation glia respond through the release of neurotrophic factors, including nerve growth factor (NGF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) (Turco et al., 2014; Gulbransen, 2014). We hypothesized the spleen glia likely would take on a similar neurotrophic role after neurectomy.

The goal of this study was thus to first develop and validate a splenic neurectomy surgery in mice. Secondly, we wanted to investigate the effects of splenic neurectomy on spleen glia. In the future we want to utilize this model to study nerve-glia-immune cell interactions during inflammatory disease states. This thesis chapter contains a description of the new mouse splenic neurectomy surgery. Also, utilizing immunohistochemistry and a time course analysis we were able to track the changes of both nerve fibers and spleen glia over a 1-month time period. We also describe a pilot experiment to measure the response of nerve fibers in animals in which are protected from Wallerian degeneration.

3.3 Results

We began by first developing a laparotomy surgery in which we transect the splenic nerve (neurectomy) to assess the extent of axonal loss and how spleen glia may respond. In developing the technique, we discovered that surgical technique is very important. The spleen has to be carefully exteriorized by moving intestines and pancreas. The pancreas is very delicate and needs to be gently moved as to not induce injury. The large and small intestines are removed using blunt dissection to detach connective tissue holding them in place. The nerve is identified and transected at the most lateral portion using a dissecting scope to avoid transection of the nerve supplying the pancreas. Visualization of the splenic nerve is extremely difficult in mice, and transection requires careful and through dissection as close to the artery as possible without puncturing the vessel.

To visualize spleen glia and assess the success of the transection, we utilized a peripheral glia reporter mouse (C57BL/6J GFAP-cre, ROSA-eGFP) in which pulmonary and spleen glia are labelled with GFP (Suarez-Mier and Buckwalter, 2015). We immunostained spleen sections for the sympathetic nerve marker Tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) to identify axons and verify neurectomy. Upon qualitative observation, we observed a noticeable reduction in TH fibers throughout the organ at 14 days post neurectomy surgery when compared to laparotomy only sections (Figure 3.1 A).



Figure 3.1: Evaluation of Neurectomy Surgery.

Figure 3.1: Representative images of 40 um thick spleen sections from normal Gfap-cre::Rosa-GFP C57BL/6J mice who underwent either laparotomy (control) or splenic neurectomy surgery, immunostained for tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) to mark sympathetic axons. All animals were sacrificed 14 days after surgery.(A) The left panel shows characteristic TH staining in a white pulp region of an animal who underwent laparotomy alone. Right panel shows a similar white pulp region in an animal who underwent splenic neurectomy. (B)Representative photomicrographs 1 week after neurectomy surgery. Laparotomy animals (top) show typical density of both TH nerve fibers and GFP⁺ glia. TH nerve density is greatly diminished in neurectomy animals (bottom, left). The appearance of GFP⁺ spleen glia (bottom, middle) are also affected by neurectomy. Arrows highlight aggregation of GFP in cell bodies and retracted processes compared to animals who underwent laparotomy surgery alone. Scale bars = 20 μ m.

To confirm axonal loss and determine if spleen glia were altered after nerve injury, we double-stained GFAP-GFP reporter animals with TH after a 7-day recovery (Figure 3.1 B). On visual inspection, we observed a clear reduction in TH nerve fibers throughout the spleen in neurectomized animals compared to laparotomy only animals. We also observed that spleen glia, which are visualized by GFP, began to exhibit signs of distress. At this 7-day time point, the GFP expressing cells appear to form less dense networks and exhibit an increased amount of GFP aggregated within the cell body, such as might be seen if they are retracting their processes (Figure 3.1 B, arrows).

After nerve transection, Wallerian degeneration leads to degeneration of axons (Fawcettt and Keynes, 1990). The onset of Wallerian degeneration in peripheral nerves have been described to begin as early as 24-hours after injury. There is little research about this process in peripheral unmyelinated autonomic nerves, but we assume it is similar. The expected rate of Wallerian degeneration is ~1-3 mm /day, varying depending on type of injury and size of nerve. Our neurectomy surgery transects the nerve ~3 mm from entry into the spleen. We thus expected to see loss of axons on approximately day 2-3. To assess this, and quantify the extent of axonal loss over time, we conducted laparotomy or neurectomy surgery and immunostained spleen sections for TH at 24 hours, 7 days, 10 days, 14 days and 28 days. Our analysis revealed a significant reduction in the numbers of TH fibers throughout the spleen beginning at 7 days after neurectomy (Figure 3.2). However, there is a trend that is evident as early as 24hr after neurectomy surgery (p=0.1). By seven days we see near complete loss of TH fibers which persists 14 days after surgery, and stays reduced until day 28, when there is a slight recovery. This recovery is expected as the cell body is intact and autonomic nerves are known to re-grow (Fawcettt and Keynes, 1990; Verdú and Navarro, 1997).

Peripheral Schwann cells respond to nerve injury by cellular reprogramming that generates cells specialized for promoting regeneration and repair. These repair cells clear redundant myelin, attract macrophages, support survival of damaged neurons, encourage axonal growth, and guide axons back to their targets (Jessen and Arthur-Farraj, 2019). A key component of this reprogramming is de-differentiation and activation in which the cells re-express genes that are suppressed during the immature Schwann cell state, including GFAP (Jessen and Arthur-Farraj, 2019; Jessen





Bar graph depicting time course quantification of TH immunostaining throughout the spleen after splenic nerve injury as normalized to laparotomy only animal. Values are given as mean \pm SEM. Multiple t-tests as each time point is an independent experiment. **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.001 and Mirsky, 2019). Since it was clear that GFP expressing glia in the spleen begin to exhibit physical change at seven days we hypothesized that spleen glia might undergo similar changes. To assess how spleen glia might change over time we next investigated their physical changes over the same time course. Immunohistochemical analysis demonstrated nearly healthy appearing glia at the earliest timepoint (24 hours). At this early time point glia exhibit typical hallmarks of naïve and sham surgery animals. They have irregularly shaped, yet discernible cell bodies boldly filled with GFP throughout the cytoplasm forming extensive networks of processes that travel along nerve fibers. However, by day 7, as previously described, GFP expressing glia begin to show signs of distress. They appear to have retracted some of their processes as their cell bodies and processes to appear thickened with more aggregated GFP (Figure 3.3A). Glia at this time are also in less dense networks and do not have uniform GFP. By 10 days spleen glia appear to be trending towards death or dead, with no identifiable cell bodies or processes labelled with GFP, instead round specks of GFP are visible. This phenotype persists out to 28 days where some recovery is visible (Figure 3.3 B). To assess if this death was due to apoptosis, we labelled the same sections using an activated caspase-3 antibody. Interestingly, spleen glia do not double stain for caspase-3 at any time point outlined above (data not shown), indicating that the atrophy or death of spleen glia may be happening through different mechanisms.

76 CHAPTER 3. THE SPLENIC NERVE AND SPLEEN GLIA RELATIONSHIP





(A) Representative photomicrographs of 40 μ m thick spleen sections from animals who underwent splenic neurectomy surgery. Time course analysis reveals that by 7 days post splenic neurectomy surgery glia begin to exhibit morphological changes and by 10 days are likely dead with no visible GFP⁺ cell bodies or processes on days 10 and 14, and some re-appearance of glia on day 28. (B) Time course quantification of GFP staining in spleen sections. Scale bar= 20 μ m. Values are given as mean \pm SEM. Multiple t-tests as each time point is an independent experiment. **, p < 0.01.

Considering that the loss of sympathetic nerve fibers in the spleen produced a substantial physical change in spleen glia, we considered that it is likely the nerve delivers trophic support to the cells. This support could likely come from humoral means or through physical contact. To determine which of the two might be the case we utilized transgenic $Sarm1^{-/-}$ mice. Sarm1 knockout mice are resistant to Wallerian degeneration in injury models, including TBI (Marion et al., 2019; Maynard et al., 2020) and several neuropathies (Gilley et al., 2017; Ziogas and Koliatsos, 2018; Cheng et al., 2019). To test whether glia survival is affected after nerve injury, we conducted a pilot experiment in which $Sarm1^{-/-}$ animals underwent laparotomy or neurectomy surgery using their wild-type littermates as controls. To begin, we first wanted to validate nerve protection in our neurectomy model. Spleen sections were immunostained for TH after 4 and 7 days of recovery. Our analysis shows no difference in nerve fibers at 4 days. This effect may be due to the experiment being underpowered. However, as expected we see complete loss of TH fibers in the organ at 7 days (pj0.05; compared to laparotomy wild-type). As expected, Sarm1^{-/-} animals who received neurectomy surgery did not have a decrease in sympathetic axons compared to laparotomy at either time point (Figure 3.4). Although small, this experiment reveals that Wallerian degeneration of unmyelinated splenic nerve fibers is likely blocked in $Sarm1^{-/-}$ animals, and that they will be a useful tool to help understand the relationship between sympathetic axons and spleen glia.





Bar graph quantification of TH fibers in Sarm1 knockout animals vs. wildtype C57BL/6J. The graph depicts a trend of decrease of TH fibers at both 4 and 7 days when compared to laparotomy animals from pilot experiments. This trend is not seen in wildtype controls. Values are given as mean \pm SEM. Two-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test. *, p < 0.05.

3.4 Discussion

Here we describe and validate a splenic neurectomy model and provide a characterization of the relationship between spleen glia and the splenic nerve. Surgical transection of the splenic nerve causes degeneration of fibers as early as 24 hours post-surgery and they are nearly all gone by day 7. We. begin to see recovery by 28 days. Upon damage to the nerve spleen glia become distressed, with physical changes appearing by day 7. Spleen glia retract their processes and exhibit signs of atrophy, and by day 14 the majority of cells appear to be dead. This process is not through apoptosis as spleen glia do not express caspase-3, a central molecule in the execution of apoptosis at any of our time points. In $Sarm1^{-/-}$ animals, nerve fibers are protected from degeneration after injury at 7 days when compared to wild-type animals. The data presented here is a first step in understanding the trophic factors involved in spleen glia-nerve interactions. Future studies will examine the glia in $Sarm1^{-/-}$ mice to determine whether physical contact helps spleen glia maintain their integrity and examine early transcriptomic changes after neurectomy. Additionally, we provide a surgical technique to perturb direct innervation to the spleen, a first step necessary to understand the role of the splenic nerve in splenic functioning.

This neurectomy technique provides a means to investigate the role of direct innervation to the spleen on glia and on sympathetically-mediated immune responses. Splenic neurectomy directly injures the splenic nerve without damage to the rest of the sympathetic nervous system. This is important because the sympathetic nervous system is important in many other homeostatic functions, so perturbations that act globally not only affect the targeted organ but also a host of other tissues and physiologic functions. For example, animals treated with 6-OHDA, a neurotoxin specific to adrenergic nerves, exhibit decreased heart rate (Forbes et al., 1977), decreased locomotor activity (Sgroi et al., 2014) and even death (Koski et al., 2019). In our model, we are able to directly injure the nerve resulting in decreased nerve fibers in the spleen beginning as early as 24 hours after injury which persists to 28 days. Our model of complete transection seems to be similar in recovery time to nerve crush injury of the sciatic nerve, which takes a similar amount of time to demonstrate recovery (Hoffman and O'Shea, 1999). We however do not yet know how long the nerve would take to completely reinnervate the spleen or whether it would reach pre-injury levels.

In marked contrast to glia in the sciatic nerve after injury, we find that spleen glia exhibit signs of death after splenic neurectomy. Typically, after injury to a peripheral nerve, Schwann cells undergo profound changes in their identity, converting to a denervated Schwann cell type, which provides support for axon regeneration, this resulting change in identity is referred to as the repair Schwann cell and termed adaptive cellular reprogramming (Jessen and Arthur-Farraj, 2019; Jessen and Mirsky, 2016). This cell type switch has been shown in several tissues including the pancreas (Eberhard and Tosh, 2008), liver (Yanger et al., 2013) and skin (Verdú and Navarro, 1997; Davis et al., 2012). It is likely that a similar resulting cell occurs from denervated spleen glia, however further research needs to be done to elucidate how spleen glia change and what characteristics they may have. It may also very well be that glia do not convert into repair cells during the time points observed but rather take on an entirely new identity, another response from peripheral glia. This can be seen in the ear in which damage to hair cells causes glial cells to convert into new hair cells (Jessen and Arthur-Farraj, 2019). This is not unique to the ear as enteric glia have been shown to be multipotent and have the ability to convert to neurons after injury (Laranjeira et al., 2011; Gershon, 2011). Perhaps, as there is dieback of both axon and glia , glia remaining on the nerve increase their rates of proliferation and and provide support for axons to renter the spleen.

Changes in spleen glia after nerve transection are not completely unexpected. It is well known that one regulator of Schwann cell gene expression is the axon, as different axons differ markedly in their ability to instruct Schwann cells (Jessen and Mirsky, 2019). Axons direct whether Schwann cells will simply ensheather the normally unmyelinated nerve fibers or myelinate the larger fibers. The ability of Schwann cells to substantially influence regeneration in the peripheral nervous systems derives in part from their ability to produce a variety of trophic factors, as well as from expressing a number of cell adhesion molecules that are known to influence neurite growth on their surfaces. Among these are nerve growth factor (Liu et al., 2007; Kimpinski et al., 1997), brain derived neurotrophic factor (Bdnf; (Kimpinski et al., 1997; Kellner et al., 2014), glial-derived nerve growth factor (Gdnf); (Schäfer and Mestres, 1999), and ciliary neurotrophic factor (Liu et al., 2014). Our transcriptomic data (Chapter 2) show that at baseline spleen glia are also high expressors of many of these well characterized factors influencing nerve-glia relationships. One example is neuroligins, which are a family of cell adhesion proteins important for neuronal development and synapse formation. Spleen glia have high expression of two neuroligins, NL2 and NL3. NL3 has been shown to be necessary for peripheral ensheathment of nerves in the fly (Gilbert et al., 2001). In the CNS, knockout of NL3 causes severely stunted branching of oligodendrocytes and astrocytes in culture (Stogsdill et al., 2017; Linneberg et al., 2015). Similarly, knockdown of neuronal neurexins, the binding partner of neuroligins, produces the same stunted branching patterns (Stogsdill et al., 2017). Spleen glia also express GDNF and BDNF. GDNF is a soluble glial factor that increases neurite extension and promotes survival of motor and sensory neurons both in vitro and in vivo (Marquardt et al., 2015). BDNF has been shown to promote neuronal regeneration and functional recovery in models of spinal cord injury (Lin et al., 2016). Another example of likely axon-glia trophic interactions are those between the type III neuregulins and Erb/b receptors on axons and Schwann cells / spleen glia respectively. Spleen glia express *Erbb2*. Type III neuregulin binds to Erb/b2 receptors on Schwann cells and activates PI-kinase in Schwann cells, a key signaling pathway found to be essential for ensheathment and myelination (Newbern and Birchmeier, 2010). Thus, spleen glia likely maintain their relationship to sympathetic axons using some or all of these mechanisms. However future research is needed to dissect these mechanisms and understand how spleen glia change and what state the cells are in after injury. We hypothesize that spleen glia may be more dependent on trophic factors from the nerve and/or physical contact with the axons than sciatic nerve Schwann cells. The spleen is quite unique as it has only sympathetic fibers innervating the organ, and is it possible that their dependence on the nerve is uniformly seen in nonmyelinating Schwann cells that ensheath sympathetic axons. Deletion experiments of the several trophic factors expressed by spleen glia or the nerve may prove to be useful in understanding their role in spleen glia and interaction with the nerve

As expected, nerve fiber degeneration seems to be protected in pilot experiments using $Sarm1^{-/-}$ mice. One of the interesting findings was that there was actually some damage that occurred to the nerve fibers in these animals. This is not unique to the splenic nerve, however, $Sarm1^{-/-}$ animals who receive traumatic brain injury still exhibit 30% loss of injured axons when compared to that of wild-type controls (Marion et al., 2019). This suggests that although most nerve fibers are protected there are a subset that are still susceptible to injury. On another note, we observed that the overall density of nerve fibers in the spleens of knockout animals only receiving laparotomy surgery seemed to be less than their wild-type counterparts only receiving laparotomy surgery, yet, statistically unsignificant (p=0.4) (Figure 3.4). However, since the number of animals we had in each group were fairly, this trend is likely a result from being underpowered. Nonetheless, at day 7 Sarm1^{-/-} animals exhibit no statistically significant differences from either laparotomy group, in the amount of TH⁺ nerve fibers throughout the organ. Due to the small size of the experiment and variability observed we are planning to increase the sample sizes in future experiments, as well as to study the effect on the glia. Nevertheless, the trends observed are exciting first step to measuring changes in spleen glia after neurectomy while axons are still present.

One limitation of this study is that the method we used to measure the presence of nerve fibers relies on immunostaining for Tyrosine Hydroxylase (TH), the rate limiting enzyme in norepinephrine production. We don't know the effect of proximal nerve transection on TH vesicles. Additional immunostains for other nerve markers, such as protein gene product 9.5 (Pgp 9.5) or neurofilament (NF) are needed to verify that the axons are gone. NF is an intermediate filament found in the cytoplasm and thus should be present in intact axons regardless of proximal nerve conditions. Pgp 9.5 is a ubiquitin hydrolase and thus abundantly present throughout the entire fiber and also should not be affected by signals upstream. The work described here with the $Sarm1^{-/-}$ mice is very exciting pilot data. Future experiments with higher sample sizes will follow. Combined with further analysis of different glial markers we will be able to elucidate the extent of nerve damage in both wild type and $Sarm1^{-/-}$ animals as well as the response of spleen glia in both genotypes.

This work will also be pivotal for allowing us to uncover interactions between glia, nerve and immune cells in the spleen. We have demonstrated an effective technique to block direct sympathetic signaling in the spleen in a mouse model and shown that glia undergo substantial physical alterations and likely death. One question still of interest to us is what transcriptional changes occur in glia that lead to atrophy of the majority of cells. Our lab has described an effective method to isolate and sequence spleen glia and we plan on characterizing this response and designing experiments to test what factors in the nerve are necessary for glial survival. Lastly, there are many experimental gaps on the importance of the nerve in splenic immune responses. Splenic neurectomy will be an important tool to study the underlying molecular mechanisms in mice.

3.5 Materials and Methods

3.5.1 Animals

All animal procedures were performed in accordance with the protocol approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Stanford University. Breeding pairs of Gfap-Cre (JAX#12886), Rosa26 eGFP (JAX#4077), and $Sarm1^{-/-}$ (JAX#018069) were purchased from The Jackson Laboratories (Bar Harbor, ME). Mice were housed in a temperature-controlled 12-hour light-dark alternating facility, with ad libitum access to food and water. All experiments were performed with 8-12-week-old male. To generate mice that express GFP in glia, we bred homozygous female GFAP-cre animals with homozygous male Rosa-eGFP animals. Animals used in experiments were heterozygous for both transgenes. To generate Sarm1 knockout animals, we either purchased knockouts or bred $Sarm1^{+/-}$ animals to each other. Experimental animals were homozygous Sarm1 knockout mice ($Sarm1^{-/-}$) or wildtype littermate controls. Both groups were subjected to neurectomy or laparotomy surgery and allowed to recover for specified timepoints ranging from 4 -10 days.

3.5.2 Neurectomy Surgery

Neurectomy surgeries were developed in-house and carried out in accordance to APLAC guidelines for major surgery. Animals were anesthetized with 2% Isoflurane in 2 L/min 100% oxygen and maintained at 37°C both during surgery and recovery using a feedback-controlled heating blanket. Mice were shaved, anesthetized and placed in a sterile surgical field with their ventral side up. After an abdominal incision, skin was separated from the peritoneal wall by blunt dissection. Using curved surgical scissors another incision was made along the linea alba to expose the abdominal organs. Intestines were then exteriorized by leading with the ileum and placing the bulk of the small intestine on a sterile surgical drape. The spleen was then exteriorized, and nerve-vessel bundles identified. Using blunt dissection, the nerve was carefully dissected away from the vessels until transected. Laparotomy animals had intestines and spleens exteriorized but did not receive any blunt dissection of the nerve, and had their abdomen open for similar time periods. Mice were concurrently injected with 25 mg/kg cefazolin (VWR #89149-888) and 1 mg/kg of buprenorphine SR (Zoopharm, Windsor, CO) to prevent infection and for pain management, respectively. The peritoneal wall was closed using a continuous suture technique with absorbable suture and skin was closed using Reflex 7mm Wound closure system (Braintree Scientific #RF7 KIT). Validation of surgery can be found in results section.

3.5.3 Perfusion and tissue preparation

Mice were terminally sedated with 6% chloral hydrate in PBS and perfused through the left ventricle with 10–20ml of cold 0.9% heparinized saline (10 units/ml). Spleens were collected and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate buffer overnight then transferred to 30% sucrose in phosphate buffer until sunken, usually overnight. PFAfixed spleens were sectioned in both sagittal and coronal planes using a freezing sliding microtome to generate 40 μ m thick sections (Microm HM430). Spleen sections were sections were stored in cryoprotectant medium (30% glycerin, 30% ethylene glycol, and 40% 0.5 M sodium phosphate buffer) at 20°C until processing.

3.5.4 Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was performed on PFA-fixed free-floating tissue sections using standard protocols. Sections were washed in Tris Buffered Saline (TBS) and blocked with 5% serum for 1 hour. Primary antibodies were diluted in 0.1% Triton X-100 and 5% serum and applied overnight at room temperature. We used the following primary antibodies: rabbit anti-TH at 1:500 (Millipore), rabbit anti-S100b (Novus). The following day, the sections were rinsed extensively with TBS and incubated with a fluorescent donkey anti-rabbit secondary antibody for 5 hours. Sections were washed in TBS then wet-mounted with Vectashield hard set mounting media with DAPI (Vector Labs) and coverslipped. In some instances, Diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (DAB) immunohistochemistry was performed. In these stains a similar protocol was followed with a pretreatment in 30% hydrogen peroxide (1hr) prior to blocking and incubation with avidin–biotin peroxidase complex (Vectastain Elite ABC kit, Vector Laboratories) for 1 hr after a biotinylated secondary antibody was applied.

3.5.5 Image acquisition and Quantification

Sections were imaged using 40x, 1.15 numerical aperture oil objectives on a Leica TCS SPE confocal microscope using Leica Application Suite Advanced Fluorescence software. Stacked images of fluorescent spleen sections were reconstructed using ImageJ (NIH), and Photoshop (Adobe) software was used to change brightness and contrast of the images. In each case all settings were applied equally to each color channel. To quantify normalized TH pixels mark and find protocols were used in the Leica Application suite to image 12 semi-random white pulp and red pulp locations in a given section. White vs. red pulp was identified based on the pattern of DAPI staining in the blue channel, then confocal pictures were taken in the red channel to capture TH immunostaining. 3 sections per animal were utilized to generate a total of 36 images. Florescent pixels were then quantified using thresholding in ImageJ. Quantification and thresholding were carried out in accordance to previously published protocols outlined in Inman et al. (2005). Fluorescent pixels were calculated as percent area covered and normalized to laparotomy animals. The experimenter was blind to experimental group until after quantification was completed.

3.5.6 Statistical analyses

Data graphs are presented as mean \pm SEM. The differences between experimental groups were analyzed by t-test or Two-way ANOVA, followed by Dunnet's multiple comparison test. MS Excel, ImageJ, Origin 2016 (OriginLab, Northampton, MA, USA), and Prism GraphPad 8 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) software was used for data and statistical analysis.

Chapter 4

Conclusions

4.1 Summary

In this dissertation I have reported the first in-depth characterization of spleen glia. First, using immunohistochemistry, I characterized the morphology and anatomy of spleen glia. I followed up by isolating the cells and sequencing their transcriptomes, and then used that data to compare them to other glial types. I identified several molecules expressed in spleen glia that are implicated in signaling to nerves and immune cells, including the neuropeptide Y receptor Npy1r and the chemokine Cxcl13. Secondly, I developed a new surgical methodology to cut the splenic nerve and described how spleen glia die upon nerve cut. The work outlined in this dissertation lays an important foundation for future work examining the functions of spleen glia. Below I discuss the implication of my overall findings and summarize exciting directions for future research.

4.2 Discussion

I discovered that spleen glia are a unique glial type that likely have important functional roles beyond just supporting nerves within the organ. My analysis of spleen glia gene expression established that they express key neural and immune genes at baseline. This is strongly suggestive that spleen glia are involved in homeostatic functions of the sympathetic nervous system and immune system locally. This is consistent with the role of enteric glia, which play a role in maintaining normal gut function. For instance, deletion of enteric glia leads to injury to the intestinal epithelium (Savidge et al., 2007) and reduction in gut motility (Rao et al., 2017). Deletion of spleen glia is a future experiment. However, the transcriptomic dataset I generated demonstrates that they likely communicate with immune cells and receive signals from sympathetic axons.

Since the spleen is heavily involved in both the innate and adaptive immune response, it is likely that spleen glia serve to influence both arms of the immune system. They express complement proteins, macrophage stimulating proteins (Csf1, Csf3) and pattern recognition receptors (Ager, Tlr4) which are all involved in innate immune responses. Additionally, spleen glia express chemoattractants for T (Ccl19, Ccl21) and B (Cxl13, Tnfsf13b) lymphocytes, and lymphocyte co-stimulatory molecules (Icam, C40) that are involved in activation of lymphocytes for adaptive immune responses. This would not be unique to spleen glia as astrocytes have also been shown to affect both arms of the immune system. My hypothesis is that spleen glia work in conjunction with the nerve to regulate immune responses and to both limit and exacerbate inflammation. The direction of their influence likely depends on conditions and the immune state of the spleen.

Indeed, both astrocytes and enteric glia can exert both pro- and anti-inflammatory effects in a context dependent manner. For example, enteric glia can detect local levels of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1, IL-4, and TNF (Von Boyen et al., 2004). Binding of these cytokines elicits glial cell activation similar to reactive gliosis seen in CNS astrocytes marked by increased expression and secretion of S100B and GFAP, and this contributes to inflammation and GI dysfunction (Von Boyen and Steinkamp, 2010; Von Boyen et al., 2004). Similarly, astrocytes excrete the proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 in response to LPS through activation of toll-like receptors on their cell surface (El-Hage et al., 2011; Wiese et al., 2012). Astrocytes are also a major source of T and B lymphocyte chemoattractants. During active infection, reactive astrocytes express CCL5 as well as CXCL10, both chemoattractants for T cells (Sauder et al., 2000; Babcock et al., 2003)). Furthermore, in brain samples from patients with multiple sclerosis, astrocytes have been shown to express the B cell chemoattractant B-cell activating factor (BAFF) (Krumbholz et al., 2005). Spleen glia also express many of these genes and may produce pro-inflammatory responses through similar mechanisms.

In addition to their ability to stimulate immune responses, both astrocytes and enteric glia serve to keep immune responses in check and to maintain homeostasis through immunosuppression. These anti-inflammatory effects are controlled, in part, by the release of soluble glial compounds such as glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) and ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF). In the gut, enteric glia release GDNF that acts on type 3 innate lymphoid cells (ILC3), leading to release of antiinflammatory IL-22 and increased expression of repair genes in the gut epithelium (Ibiza et al., 2016; Chow and Gulbransen, 2017). In addition, GDNF can signal to immune cells in the gut to decrease expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF and IL-1 (Von Boyen et al., 2011). In the CNS, astrocytes can also limit inflammation by forming a physical barrier, known as a scar, that helps restrict not only leukocyte access but also access of inflammatory molecules into the parenchyma (Fawcett and Asher, 1999; Sofroniew, 2009). This glial constraint on neuroinflammation is critical in a host of diseases and after injury, including EAE (Bribian et al., 2018; Voskuhl et al., 2009), Alzheimer's disease models (Serrano-Pozo et al., 2013; Chun et al., 2018), Parkinson's disease models (Tomov, 2020; Cabezas et al., 2013), infection (Adams and Gallo, 2018), spinal cord injury (Yuan and He, 2013; Bradbury and Burnside, 2019), and stroke (Becerra-Calixto and Cardona-Gómez, 2017; Huang et al., 2014). In addition to the physical barrier of the glial scar, astrocytes release anti-inflammatory molecules in response to injury and inflammation, e.g. $TGF\beta$ (Wiese et al., 2012; Cekanaviciute et al., 2014b,a) and IL-10 (Recasens et al., 2019).

Our transcriptomic analysis reveals that, similar to enteric glia and astrocytes, spleen glia express molecules that can up- or down-regulate inflammatory responses. For example, tenascin C (Tnc) was the second most differentially expressed gene in spleen glia. Tenascin-C is a matrix protein induced upon injury (ref) that binds and activates toll-like receptor four (Tlr4), which among other mediators releases IL-6 (Zuliani-Alvarez et al., 2017; John et al., 2003). Spleen glia significantly express all three genes and therefore may use this pathway as a mechanism to produce inflammation in the spleen. In addition, spleen glia express anti-inflammatory glial compounds. One example is the expression of thrombospondin-2 (Thbs2). Thrombospondin 2 is a matricellular protein that has been implicated in tissue repair (Adams and Lawler, 2011). When it is overexpressed, it suppresses the production of the proinflammatory cytokines, IFN γ and TNF, and induces the depletion of tissue-resident T lymphocytes (Bornstein et al., 2000). Thbs2 may be working similarly in spleen glia and the spleen. An exciting future research direction will be to determine in which context spleen glia promote pro- versus anti-inflammatory responses.

Complement pathway components were highly enriched and expressed in spleen

glia. Complement is a component of the innate humoral immune response, is involved in inflammation, opsonization, and cytolysis. It requires the coordination of many proteins for activation and regulation. While it is unclear what the role of complement is in peripheral glia, in the CNS, complement proteins are upregulated by astrocytes as well as other resident cells following brain infection (Pekny et al., 2007; Hartmann et al., 2019) and stroke (Hersh and Yang, 2018). There has not been much focus on the astrocytic specific effects of complement, but when it is systemically depleted, rats exhibit smaller infarct sizes after ischemia (Ma et al., 2019), suggesting that complement may be contributing to detrimental inflammatory responses. Complement may also have a dual role in stroke. Animals deficient in C3, an integral part of both complement pathways, show decreased neurogenesis after stroke (Alawieh et al., 2015). In the PNS, complement is highly expressed in lymphatic tissues, including the spleen and lymph nodes, due to the large presence of macrophages and neutrophils.

There are also some experimental findings that implicate complement in Wallerian degeneration. Wallerian degeneration occurs when transection or injury to nerves results in degradation of distal nerve fibers and proliferation and activation of Schwann cells. During this process macrophages are recruited to the site of injury to help clear debris, and recruitment is thought to happen through complement proteins that produced from Schwann cells (de Jonge et al., 2004). The function of complement signaling in spleen glia may be similar. Additionally, the spleen lacks
lymphatics so antigen and bloodborne pathogens are brought into the organ through the vasculature. Our data revealed that spleen glia are located around arteries and arterioles, and thus are in a prime position to be one of the first cells exposed to antigens in the spleen. Complement expression in spleen glia may play a role in initiating the innate immune response in this instance.

Glia have been implicated in many aspects of neuroimmune communication throughout the nervous system. We hypothesize that spleen glia participate in neuroimmune responses through bidirectional communication with both nerves and immune cells (Figure 4.1). The splenic nerve likely directly communicates with immune cells to modulate immune responses, and this communication is likely modulated by spleen glia that are in close proximity. This idea is similar to the concept of the tripartite synapse in the CNS (Perea et al., 2009), in which astrocytes can alter neurotransmission between two neurons. In the case of the spleen, the three players would be glia, the splenic nerve, and immune cells. One example of possible mediators of this communication that I found in my transcriptomic analysis is purinergic receptors. Spleen glia highly express two purinergic receptors, *P2ry2* and *P2rx1*, and also genes necessary for calcium signaling through the phospholipase C pathway known to be activated by purinergic G-protein coupled receptors (*Plcq1*, *Itpr3*, *Daq1*, *Prkca*). Purinergic signaling in glia has been shown to alter neurotransmission and inflammation in both astrocytes and enteric glia. Specifically, in enteric glia purinergic signaling produce



Figure 4.1: Proposed hypothesis of neuroimmune connections in the spleen

calcium waves in glia leading to subsequent proliferation of the cells and release of ATP (Lecca et al., 2012; Quintas et al., 2011). Purinergic signaling in astrocytes also induces calcium waves and leads to the release of proinflammatory molecules and promotes synaptic inhibition (Junger, 2011).

There is also evidence for mechanisms that could carry out bidirectional communication between immune cells and spleen glia. Spleen glia express multiple cytokines and chemokines that can promote both pro- and anti-inflammatory responses, as well as specific receptors for cytokines including interleukins 1 and 17. For example they express the type 1 interleukin receptor (Il1r1) which is primarily responsible for transmitting the inflammatory effects of interleukin-1 (Zenobia and Hajishengallis, 2015). In addition, spleen glia highly express genes required to form the interleukin 17 receptor (Il17ra/c). Activation of the receptor has been shown to promote expression and production of inflammatory cytokines (TNF or IL-1 β) and chemokines (MCP-1, IL-8) driving activation of macrophages and release of antimicrobial products (Aggarwal and Gurney, 2002).

A key unknown about sympathetically-mediated immune changes is how much the splenic nerve itself versus circulating catecholamines produced from sympathetic stimulation of the adrenal glands contribute to sympathetically-mediated immune changes. Contradictory conclusions reported in literature after LPS injections and splenic neurectomy made me re-evaluate the rigor and validity of the experiments that have been published. Future experiments could use the neurectomy surgery I developed that inhibits direct sympathetic signaling in the lab to elucidate the role of the nerve during LPS responses in a time dependent manner. I found evidence that the splenic nerve extensively innervates immune cell regions in the spleen and comes into very close contact with lymphocytes (Felten and Olschowka, 1987). The lymphocytes themselves are also very high expressors of adrenergic receptors, specifically the beta-2 adrenergic receptor (Wu et al., 2018). Future experiments should however also include analysis of the glial response with a focus on early timepoints after infection and injury. Whatever the role of the splenic nerve may be, the work I present in this dissertation now makes it possible to precisely test the hypothesis that glia, nerves and immune cells work together in producing immune responses.

Together the transcriptional data and physical changes I present here demonstrate the uniqueness of spleen glia. However, it is important to note that the spleen is not the only secondary lymphoid organ. Lymph nodes, Peyer's patches of the gut, mucosal and nasal associated lymphoid tissue, adenoids and tonsils all are secondary lymphoid organs, and all receive some innervation from the autonomic nervous system and presumably contain glia. We observe expression of GFAP⁺ cells and sympathetic axons in the lymph node (data not shown). However, like spleen glia, glia in all of these locations have not been well characterized or implicated in organ functions. It will be important to not only further characterize glia in the spleen but also determine their similarity and differences with glia in the other secondary lymphoid organs.

4.3 Future Directions

When I began this work I had many pre-existing hypotheses and while I learned a lot, there still remains a significant amount to be discovered (outlined above). The work also led to new hypotheses and questions.

One surprising result from our analysis was expression of immune cell homing chemokines in spleen glia. While we expected to observe evidence of molecules that might communicate with immune cells to activate or suppress them, we did not expect expression of molecules known to organize lymphocytes within the spleen. Immune cell homing and lymphocyte organization is important for a proper immune response from the organ. In particular, spleen glia highly express molecules that organize the two major lymphocyte populations, T (*Ccl19*) and B (*Cxcl13*) lymphocytes, causing their homing to the spleen. Specifically, CXCL13 and its receptor CXCR5 control the organization of B cells within follicles of lymphoid tissues (Ansel et al., 2000; Förster et al., 1996) and mice deficient in this chemokine have impaired trafficking of B1 cell subsets (Ansel et al., 2002). Our transcriptional data suggests that spleen glia are high expressors of the chemokine and expression was confirmed in spleen glia using in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry (data not shown). However, there are likely many contributors to the homing of immune cells to the spleen, in particular follicular dendritic cells also express this chemokine as do T cells (Workel et al., 2019; Vermi et al., 2008). Considering the intimate relationship glia have with these cells, experiments deleting these molecules specifically from glia would determine their role in homing and trafficking during infections. More intriguingly, Cxcl13 systemically is considered a biomarker for germinal center activity and thus antibody production from plasma cells (Havenar-Daughton et al., 2016). It would be interesting if spleen glia had a role in signaling to B lymphocytes during infection models and eliciting their efficient differentiation into plasma cells. Another phenomenon in which this may be important is during splenic contraction after stroke in which disorganization of immune cell populations and disruption of splenic architecture occurs (Offner et al., 2006). Considering the large sympathetic surge after stroke, perhaps the release of norepinephrine from the splenic nerve shifts the balance of these homing molecules in spleen glia leading to disorganization. Some preliminary studies I conducted 3 days after stroke, a time of maximal disorganization, show no differences in splenic mRNA levels of either chemokine. However, it is likely that the response occurs more acutely than this and at day 3 it could be that expression is already normalized. Future work will explore the intriguing possibility that spleen glia may contribute to developmental or disease-mediated physical organization of the spleen.

In chapter 3 I developed a surgical methodology that allows me to directly injure the splenic nerve. Considering the intimate relationship between spleen glia and the splenic nerve we became interested in how this relationship was maintained. Upon investigating our transcriptional data, we found high expression of several neurotrophic factors and their receptors including *Bdnf*, *Gdnf*, *GFRa* and *Ctnfr*. Since we are primarily interested in glial changes, we opted to develop a surgery that injured the nerve (neurectomy). We hypothesized that like Schwann cells of the sciatic nerve, spleen glia would de-differentiate and similarly aid in nerve regrowth. Surprisingly, our analysis revealed that spleen glia are dependent on the nerve for survival–after neurectomy, glia begin to change by 7 days and appear dead by 10 days. As presented in Chapter 3, I am exploring this by using transcriptomics and mice with inhibited Wallerian degeneration. These sets of experiments are aimed at describing how glia change after nerve injury in a time dependent manner and identifying molecular markers that maintain the nerve-glia relationship using transcriptomics. My hypothesis is that changes to the many neurotrophic factors outlined above play a role and loss of their signaling results in atrophy. This will be an important future direction.

4.4 Final Remarks

Spleen glia offer an exciting new cell type to be explored in the context of neuroimmune communication in the spleen. By characterizing the location and expression patterns of spleen glia at baseline this dissertation has laid a foundation. This work is an essential first step to understanding spleen glia and providing tools to study them in neuroimmune communication. Indeed, my results show substantial expression of both immune and neurotransmitter genes that support the hypothesis that spleen glia can communicate with both nerves and immune cells. However, spleen glia are only one facet of the neuroimmune response that is occurring in the spleen. Contributions from the many myeloid, endothelial and stromal cells are also critical for inflammation as shown in various other tissues. In addition, the spleen is only one of many other secondary lymphoid organs that all combine to elicit the entirety of the immune response seen throughout the body. Understanding all of the cellular players involved including glia within other secondary lymphoid organs will provide the most accurate understanding of the peripheral neuroimmune response during infection and after injury.

Chapter 5

References

- Abbott, N. J., Rönnbäck, L., and Hansson, E. (2006). Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the blood-brain barrier.
- Adams, J. C. and Lawler, J. (2011). The thrombospondins. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 3(10):1–29.
- Adams, K. L. and Gallo, V. (2018). The diversity and disparity of the glial scar.
- Aggarwal, S. and Gurney, A. L. (2002). IL-17: prototype member of an emerging cytokine family. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, 71(1):1–8.
- Aird, W. C. (2007). Phenotypic heterogeneity of the endothelium: I. Structure, function, and mechanisms. *Circulation Research*, 100(2):158–173.
- Ajmo Jr., C. T., Collier, L. A., Leonardo, C. C., Hall, A. A., Green, S. M., Womble, T. A., Cuevas, J., Willing, A. E., and Pennypacker, K. R. (2009). Blockade of adrenoreceptors inhibits the splenic response to stroke. *Exp Neurol*, 218(1):47–55.
- Alawieh, A., Elvington, A., Zhu, H., Yu, J., Kindy, M. S., Atkinson, C., and Tomlinson, S. (2015). Modulation of post-stroke degenerative and regenerative processes and subacute protection by site-targeted inhibition of the alternative pathway of complement. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 12(1).
- Allahyari, R. V., Clark, K. L., Shepard, K. A., and Garcia, A. D. R. (2019). Sonic hedgehog signaling is negatively regulated in reactive astrocytes after forebrain stab injury. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1):1–14.
- Alshak, M. N. and M Das, J. (2019). *Neuroanatomy, Sympathetic Nervous System*. StatPearls Publishing.
- Ansel, K. M., Harris, R. B., and Cyster, J. G. (2002). CXCL13 is required for B1 cell homing, natural antibody production, and body cavity immunity. *Immunity*, 16(1):67–76.

- Ansel, K. M., Ngo, V. N., Hyman, P. L., Luther, S. A., Förster, R., Sedgwlck, J. D., Browning, J. L., Upp, M., and Cyster, J. G. (2000). A chemokine-driven positive feedback loop organizes lymphoid follicles. *Nature*, 406(6793):309–314.
- Babcock, A. A., Kuziel, W. A., Rivest, S., and Owens, T. (2003). Chemokine expression by glial cells directs leukocytes to sites of axonal injury in the CNS. *Journal* of Neuroscience, 23(21):7922–7930.
- Bai, Y., Wang, T., Wang, Z., Cao, J., Dong, Y., and Chen, Y. (2011). Effect of Sympathetic Nerves on Proliferation of Splenic Lymphocytes and Antioxidant Function of Maternal Spleen in Early Pregnant Mice. *Anatomical Record*, 294(5):875–882.
- Bajénoff, M., Glaichenhaus, N., and Germain, R. N. (2008). Fibroblastic Reticular Cells Guide T Lymphocyte Entry into and Migration within the Splenic T Cell Zone. *The Journal of Immunology*, 181(6):3947–3954.
- Bakovic, D., Pivac, N., Eterovic, D., Breskovic, T., Zubin, P., Obad, A., and Dujic, Z. (2013). The effects of low-dose epinephrine infusion on spleen size, central and hepatic circulation and circulating platelets. *Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging*, 33(1):30–37.
- Barlow-Anacker, A. J., Fu, M., Erickson, C. S., Bertocchini, F., and Gosain, A. (2017). Neural Crest Cells Contribute an Astrocyte-like Glial Population to the Spleen. *Scientific Reports*, 7(March):1–12.
- Becerra-Calixto, A. and Cardona-Gómez, G. P. (2017). The role of astrocytes in neuroprotection after brain stroke: Potential in cell therapy.
- Bellinger, D. L., Felten, S. Y., Lorton, D., and Felten, D. L. (1989). Origin of noradrenergic innervation of the spleen in rats. *Brain Behavior and Immunity*, 3(4):291–311.
- Bellinger, D. L., Millar, B. A., Perez, S., Carter, J., Wood, C., ThyagaRajan, S., Molinaro, C., Lubahn, C., and Lorton, D. (2008). Sympathetic modulation of immunity: relevance to disease. *Cellular immunology*, 252(1-2):27–56.
- Berendam, S. J., Koeppel, A. F., Godfrey, N. R., Rouhani, S. J., Woods, A. N., Rodriguez, A. B., Peske, J. D., Cummings, K. L., Turner, S. D., and Engelhard, V. H. (2019). Comparative Transcriptomic Analysis Identifies a Range of Immunologically Related Functional Elaborations of Lymph Node Associated Lymphatic and Blood Endothelial Cells. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 10(April):816.
- Berthoud, H. R. and Neuhuber, W. L. (2000). Functional and chemical anatomy of the afferent vagal system. *Autonomic neuroscience : basic & clinical*, 85(1-3):1–17.

- Bhave, S., Gade, A., Kang, M., Hauser, K. F., Dewey, W. L., and Akbarali, H. I. (2017). Connexin-purinergic signaling in enteric glia mediates the prolonged effect of morphine on constipation. *FASEB Journal*, 31(6):2649–2660.
- Bornstein, P., Armstrong, L. C., Hankenson, K. D., Kyriakides, T. R., and Yang, Z. (2000). Thrombospondin 2, a matricellular protein with diverse functions. *Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology*, 19(7):557–68.
- Bradbury, E. J. and Burnside, E. R. (2019). Moving beyond the glial scar for spinal cord repair.
- Bradl, M. and Lassmann, H. (2010). Oligodendrocytes: Biology and pathology.
- Bribian, A., Pérez-Cerdá, F., Matute, C., and López-Mascaraque, L. (2018). Clonal Glial Response in a Multiple Sclerosis Mouse Model. Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience, 12:375.
- Brommer, B., Engel, O., Kopp, M. A., Watzlawick, R., Müller, S., Prüss, H., Chen, Y., DeVivo, M. J., Finkenstaedt, F. W., Dirnagl, U., Liebscher, T., Meisel, A., and Schwab, J. M. (2016). Spinal cord injury-induced immune deficiency syndrome enhances infection susceptibility dependent on lesion level. *Brain*, 139(3):692–707.
- Brown, I. A., McClain, J. L., Watson, R. E., Patel, B. A., and Gulbransen, B. D. (2016). Enteric Glia Mediate Neuron Death in Colitis Through Purinergic Pathways That Require Connexin-43 and Nitric Oxide. *Cmgh*, 2(1):77–91.
- Bucsek, M. J., Giridharan, T., MacDonald, C. R., Hylander, B. L., and Repasky, E. A. (2018). An overview of the role of sympathetic regulation of immune responses in infectious disease and autoimmunity. *International Journal of Hyperthermia*, 34(2):135–143.
- Burnstock, G. (2008). Non-synaptic transmission at autonomic neuroeffector junctions. *Neurochemistry international*, 52(1):14–25.
- Cabezas, R., Fidel, M., Torrente, D., Santos El-Bach, R., Morales, L., Gonzalez, J., and E., G. (2013). Astrocytes Role in Parkinson: A Double-Edged Sword. In *Neurodegenerative Diseases*. InTech.
- Cekanaviciute, E., Dietrich, H. K., Axtell, R. C., Williams, A. M., Egusquiza, R., Wai, K. M., Koshy, A. A., and Buckwalter, M. S. (2014a). Astrocytic TGF-beta signaling limits inflammation and reduces neuronal damage during central nervous system Toxoplasma infection. *J Immunol*, 193(1):139–149.

- Cekanaviciute, E., Fathali, N., Doyle, K. P., Williams, A. M., Han, J., and Buckwalter, M. S. (2014b). Astrocytic transforming growth factor-beta signaling reduces subacute neuroinflammation after stroke in mice. *Glia*, 62(8):1227–1240.
- Cerantola, S., Caputi, V., Marsilio, I., Ridolfi, M., Faggin, S., Bistoletti, M., Giaroni, C., and Giron, M. C. (2020). Involvement of Enteric Glia in Small Intestine Neuromuscular Dysfunction of Toll-Like Receptor 4-Deficient Mice. *Cells*, 9(4):838.
- Cesta, M. F. (2006). Normal Structure, Function, and Histology of the Spleen. *Toxicologic Pathology*, 34(5):455–465.
- Cheng, Y., Liu, J., Luan, Y., Liu, Z., Lai, H., Zhong, W., Yang, Y., Yu, H., Feng, N., Wang, H., Huang, R., He, Z., Yan, M., Zhang, F., Sun, Y. G., Ying, H., Guo, F., and Zhai, Q. (2019). SARM1 gene deficiency attenuates diabetic peripheral neuropathy in mice. *Diabetes*, 68(11):2120–2130.
- Choi, S. S., Lee, H. J., Lim, I., Satoh, J. I., and Kim, S. U. (2014). Human astrocytes: Secretome profiles of cytokines and chemokines. *PLoS ONE*, 9(4):92325.
- Chow, A. K. and Gulbransen, B. D. (2017). Potential roles of enteric glia in bridging neuroimmune communication in the gut. *American Journal of Physiology -Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 312(2):G145–G152.
- Christopherson, K. S., Ullian, E. M., Stokes, C. C., Mullowney, C. E., Hell, J. W., Agah, A., Lawler, J., Mosher, D. F., Bornstein, P., and Barres, B. A. (2005). Thrombospondins are astrocyte-secreted proteins that promote CNS synaptogenesis. *Cell*, 120(3):421–433.
- Chun, H., Marriott, I., Lee, C. J., and Cho, H. (2018). Elucidating the interactive roles of Glia in Alzheimer's disease using established and newly developed experimental models.
- Costantini, T. W., Bansal, V., Peterson, C. Y., Loomis, W. H., Putnam, J. G., Rankin, F., Wolf, P., Eliceiri, B. P., Baird, A., and Coimbra, R. (2010). Efferent vagal nerve stimulation attenuates gut barrier injury after burn: Modulation of intestinal occludin expression. *Journal of Trauma - Injury, Infection and Critical Care*, 68(6):1349–1354.
- Costantini, T. W., Krzyzaniak, M., Cheadle, G. A., Putnam, J. G., Hageny, A.-M., Lopez, N., Eliceiri, B. P., Bansal, V., and Coimbra, R. (2012). Targeting α-7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor in the enteric nervous system: a cholinergic agonist prevents gut barrier failure after severe burn injury. *The American journal of pathology*, 181(2):478–86.

- Davis, J., Burr, A. R., Davis, G. F., Birnbaumer, L., and Molkentin, J. D. (2012). A TRPC6-Dependent Pathway for Myofibroblast Transdifferentiation and Wound Healing In Vivo. *Developmental Cell*, 23(4):705–715.
- Davson, H. and Segal, M. (1995). Physiology of the CSF and Blood–Brain Barriers.
- de Jonge, R. R., van Schalik, I. N., Vreijling, J. P., Troost, D., and Baas, F. (2004). Expression of complement components in the peripheral nervous system. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 13(3):295–302.
- Delvalle, N. M., Dharshika, C., Morales-Soto, W., Fried, D. E., Gaudette, L., and Gulbransen, B. D. (2018a). Communication Between Enteric Neurons, Glia, and Nociceptors Underlies the Effects of Tachykinins on Neuroinflammation. *Cmgh*, 6(3):321–344.
- Delvalle, N. M., Fried, D. E., Rivera-Lopez, G., Gaudette, L., and Gulbransen, B. D. (2018b). Cholinergic activation of enteric glia is a physiological mechanism that contributes to the regulation of gastrointestinal motility. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 315(4):G473–G483.
- Den Haan, J. M. and Kraal, G. (2012). Innate immune functions of macrophage subpopulations in the spleen.
- Deng, J., Muthu, K., Gamelli, R., Shankar, R., Jones, S. B., and Jones, S. B. (2004). Adrenergic modulation of splenic macrophage cytokine release in polymicrobial sepsis. *American journal of physiology. Cell physiology*, 287(3):730–6.
- Desjardins, M. (2003). ER-mediated phagocytosis: A new membrane for new functions. Nature Reviews Immunology, 3(4):280–291.
- Dirnagl, U., Klehmet, J., Braun, J. S., Harms, H., Meisel, C., Ziemssen, T., Prass, K., and Meisel, A. (2007). Stroke-induced immunodepression: Experimental evidence and clinical relevance. *Stroke*, 38(2 PART 2):770–773.
- Dobin, A., Davis, C. A., Schlesinger, F., Drenkow, J., Zaleski, C., Jha, S., Batut, P., Chaisson, M., and Gingeras, T. R. (2013). STAR: Ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. *Bioinformatics*, 29(1):15–21.
- Dobnikar, L., Taylor, A. L., Chappell, J., Oldach, P., Harman, J. L., Oerton, E., Dzierzak, E., Bennett, M. R., Spivakov, M., and Jørgensen, H. F. (2018). Diseaserelevant transcriptional signatures identified in individual smooth muscle cells from healthy mouse vessels. *Nature Communications*, 9(1):4567.

- Douglas, W. W. and Ritchie, J. M. (1962). Mammalian Nonmyelinated Nerve Fibers. *Physiological Reviews*, 42(2):297–334.
- Drögemüller, K., Helmuth, U., Brunn, A., Sakowicz-Burkiewicz, M., Gutmann, D. H., Mueller, W., Deckert, M., and Schlüter, D. (2008). Astrocyte gp130 Expression Is Critical for the Control of Toxoplasma Encephalitis. *The Journal of Immunology*, 181(4):2683–2693.
- Eberhard, D. and Tosh, D. (2008). Molecular and cellular basis of regeneration and tissue repair: Transdifferentiation and metaplasia as a paradigm for understanding development and disease.
- El-Hage, N., Podhaizer, E. M., Sturgill, J., and Hauser, K. F. (2011). Toll-like Receptor Expression and Activation in Astroglia: Differential Regulation by HIV-1 Tat, gp120, and Morphine. *Immunological Investigations*, 40(5):498–522.
- Erb, L. and Weisman, G. A. (2012). Coupling of P2Y receptors to G proteins and other signaling pathways.
- Faaborg, P. M., Christensen, P., Krassioukov, A., Laurberg, S., Frandsen, E., and Krogh, K. (2014). Autonomic dysreflexia during bowel evacuation procedures and bladder filling in subjects with spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord*, 52(6):494–498.
- Fallon, M. and Tadi, P. (2019). Histology, Schwann Cells. StatPearls Publishing.
- Fawcett, J. W. and Asher, R. A. (1999). The glial scar and central nervous system repair.
- Fawcettt, J. W. and Keynes, R. J. (1990). PERIPHERAL NERVE REGENERA TION. Technical report.
- Felten, S. Y. and Olschowka, J. (1987). Noradrenergic Sympathetic Innervation of the Spleen: II. Tyrosine Hydorxylase (TH)-Positive Nerve Terminals Form Synapticlike Contacts on Lymphocytes in the Splenic White Pulp. Journal of Neuroscience Research, 18(1):37–48.
- Forbes, M. S., Rennels, M. L., and Nelson, E. (1977). Innervation of myocardial microcirculation; terminal autonomic axons associated with capillaries and postcapillary venules in mouse heart. *American Journal of Anatomy*, 149(1):71–91.
- Förster, R., Mattis, A. E., Kremmer, E., Wolf, E., Brem, G., and Lipp, M. (1996). A putative chemokine receptor, BLR1, directs B cell migration to defined lymphoid organs and specific anatomic compartments of the spleen. *Cell*, 87(6):1037–1047.

- Freidin, M., Asche, S., Bargiello, T. A., Bennett, M. V. L., and Abrams, C. K. (2009). Connexin 32 increases the proliferative response of Schwann cells to neuregulin-1 (Nrg1). Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(9):3567–3572.
- Fujii, Y., Maekawa, S., and Morita, M. (2017). Astrocyte calcium waves propagate proximally by gap junction and distally by extracellular diffusion of ATP released from volume-regulated anion channels. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1):1–15.
- Gaidin, S. G., Zinchenko, V. P., Sergeev, A. I., Teplov, I. Y., Mal'tseva, V. N., and Kosenkov, A. M. (2020). Activation of alpha-2 adrenergic receptors stimulates GABA release by astrocytes. *Glia*, 68(6):1114–1130.
- Gandelman, M., Peluffo, H., Beckman, J. S., Cassina, P., and Barbeito, L. (2010). Extracellular ATP and the P2X7receptor in astrocyte-mediated motor neuron death: Implications for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 7:1– 9.
- Gershon, M. D. (2011). Behind an enteric neuron there may lie a glial cell.
- Gilbert, M., Smith, J., Roskams, A. J., and Auld, V. J. (2001). Neuroligin 3 is a vertebrate gliotactin expressed in the olfactory ensheathing glia, a growth-promoting class of macroglia. *Glia*, 34(3):151–164.
- Gilley, J., Ribchester, R. R., and Coleman, M. P. (2017). Sarm1 Deletion, but Not WldS, Confers Lifelong Rescue in a Mouse Model of Severe Axonopathy. *Cell Reports*, 21(1):10–16.
- Griffin, J. W. and Thompson, W. J. (2008). Biology and pathology of nonmyelinating Schwann cells. *Glia*, 56(14):1518–1531.
- Grubišić, V. and Gulbransen, B. D. (2017). Enteric glia: the most alimentary of all glia. *Journal of Physiology*, 595(2):557–570.
- Grubišić, V., Verkhratsky, A., Zorec, R., and Parpura, V. (2018). Enteric glia regulate gut motility in health and disease. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 136(1):109–117.
- Gulbransen, B. D. (2014). Enteric Glia. Colloquium Series on Neuroglia in Biology and Medicine: From Physiology to Disease, 1(2):1–70.
- Gulbransen, B. D. and Sharkey, K. A. (2012). Novel functional roles for enteric glia in the gastrointestinal tract.
- Hamby, M. E., Hewett, J. A., and Hewett, S. J. (2006). TGF-β1 potentiates astrocytic nitric oxide production by expanding the population of astrocytes that express NOS-2. *Glia*, 54(6):566–577.

- Hanoun, M., Maryanovich, M., Arnal-Estapé, A., and Frenette, P. S. (2015). Neural regulation of hematopoiesis, inflammation, and cancer.
- Hartmann, K., Sepulveda-Falla, D., Rose, I. V., Madore, C., Muth, C., Matschke, J., Butovsky, O., Liddelow, S., Glatzel, M., and Krasemann, S. (2019). Complement 3+-astrocytes are highly abundant in prion diseases, but their abolishment led to an accelerated disease course and early dysregulation of microglia. Acta neuropathologica communications, 7(1):83.
- Harty, B. L. and Monk, K. R. (2017). Unwrapping the unappreciated: recent progress in Remak Schwann cell biology. *Current opinion in neurobiology*, 47(3):131–137.
- Havenar-Daughton, C., Lindqvist, M., Heit, A., Wu, J. E., Reiss, S. M., Kendric, K., Bélanger, S., Kasturi, S. P., Landais, E., Akondy, R. S., McGuire, H. M., Bothwell, M., Vagefi, P. A., Scully, E., Tomaras, G. D., Davis, M. M., Poignard, P., Ahmed, R., Walker, B. D., Pulendran, B., McElrath, M. J., Kaufmann, D. E., and Crotty, S. (2016). CXCL13 is a plasma biomarker of germinal center activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113(10):2702–2707.
- Heesen, C., Gold, S. M., Huitinga, I., and Reul, J. M. (2007). Stress and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis function in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and multiple sclerosis-A review. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 32(6):604–618.
- Hersh, J. and Yang, S. H. (2018). Glia–immune interactions post-ischemic stroke and potential therapies.
- Heusermann, U. and Stutte, H. J. (1977). Electron Microscopic Studies of the Innervation of the Human Spleen. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 184(2):225–236.
- Hoffman, J. R. and O'Shea, K. S. (1999). Thrombospondin expression in nerve regeneration I. Comparison of sciatic nerve crush, transection, and long-term denervation. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 48(4):413–420.
- Huang, L., Wu, Z. B., ZhuGe, Q., Zheng, W. M., Shao, B., Wang, B., Sun, F., and Jin, K. (2014). Glial scar formation occurs in the human brain after ischemic stroke. *International Journal of Medical Sciences*, 11(4):344–348.
- Ibiza, S., García-Cassani, B., Ribeiro, H., Carvalho, T., Almeida, L., Marques, R., Misic, A. M., Bartow-Mckenney, C., Larson, D. M., Pavan, W. J., Eberl, G., Grice, E. A., and Veiga-Fernandes, H. (2016). Glial-cell-derived neuroregulators control type 3 innate lymphoid cells and gut defence. *Nature*, 535(7612):440–443.

- Inman, C. F., Rees, L. E. N., Barker, E., Haverson, K., Stokes, C. R., and Bailey, M. (2005). Validation of computer-assisted , pixel-based analysis of multiple-colour immunofluorescence histology. 302:156–167.
- Jessen, K. R. and Arthur-Farraj, P. (2019). Repair Schwann cell update: Adaptive reprogramming, EMT, and stemness in regenerating nerves. *Glia*, 67(3):421–437.
- Jessen, K. R. and Mirsky, R. (2016). The repair Schwann cell and its function in regenerating nerves.
- Jessen, K. R. and Mirsky, R. (2019). The success and failure of the schwann cell response to nerve injury.
- John, G. R., Lee, S. C., and Brosnan, C. F. (2003). Cytokines: Powerful regulators of glial cell activation. *Neuroscientist*, 9(1):10–22.
- Johnston, G. R. and Webster, N. R. (2009). Cytokines and the immunomodulatory function of the vagus nerve.
- Jung, Y. J. and Chung, W. S. (2018). Phagocytic roles of glial cells in healthy and diseased brains. *Biomolecules and Therapeutics*, 26(4):350–357.
- Junger, W. G. (2011). Immune cell regulation by autocrine purinergic signalling.
- Kang, K., Meng, Q., Shats, I., Umbach, D. M., Li, M., Li, Y., Li, X., and Li, L. (2019). CDSeq: A novel complete deconvolution method for dissecting heterogeneous samples using gene expression data. *PLoS Computational Biology*, 15(12):1–18.
- Kellner, Y., GA¶decke, N., Dierkes, T., Thieme, N., Zagrebelsky, M., and Korte, M. (2014). The BDNF effects on dendritic spines of mature hippocampal neurons depend on neuronal activity. *Frontiers in Synaptic Neuroscience*, 6(MAR):5.
- Kimpinski, K., Campenot, R. B., and Mearow, K. (1997). Effects of the neurotrophins nerve growth factor, neurotrophin-3, and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) on neurite growth from adult sensory neurons in compartmented cultures. *Journal* of Neurobiology, 33(4):395–410.
- Kirpekar, S. M. and Misu, Y. (1967). Release of noradrenaline by splenic nerve stimulation and its dependence on calcium. *The Journal of Physiology*, 188(2):219– 234.
- Klehmet, J., Harms, H., Richter, M., Prass, K., Volk, H. D., Dirnagl, U., Meisel, A., and Meisel, C. (2009). Stroke-induced immunodepression and post-stroke infections: Lessons from the preventive antibacterial therapy in stroke trial. *Neuro*science, 158(3):1184–1193.

- Koncina, E., Roth, L., Gonthier, B., and Bagnard, D. (2007). Role of semaphorins during axon growth and guidance. In Bagnards, D., editor, Axon Growth and Guidance, volume 621, pages 50–64. Springer, New York, NY.
- Koopman, F. A., Chavan, S. S., Miljko, S., Grazio, S., Sokolovic, S., Schuurman, P. R., Mehta, A. D., Levine, Y. A., Faltys, M., Zitnik, R., Tracey, K. J., and Tak, P. P. (2016). Vagus nerve stimulation inhibits cytokine production and attenuates disease severity in Rheumatoid arthritis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113(29):8284–8289.
- Koski, S. K., Leino, S., Rannanpää, S., and Salminen, O. (2019). Implementation of improved postoperative care decreases the mortality rate of operated mice after an abundant 6-hydroxydopamine lesion of nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons. *Scandinavian Journal of Laboratory Animal Science*, 45(1):1–11.
- Krumbholz, M., Theil, D., Derfuss, T., Rosenwald, A., Schrader, F., Monoranu, C. M., Kalled, S. L., Hess, D. M., Serafini, B., Aloisi, F., Wekerle, H., Hohlfeld, R., and Meinl, E. (2005). BAFF is produced by astrocytes and up-regulated in multiple sclerosis lesions and primary central nervous system lymphoma. *Journal* of Experimental Medicine, 201(2):195–200.
- Kuol, N., Stojanovska, L., Apostolopoulos, V., and Nurgali, K. (2018a). Crosstalk between cancer and the neuro-immune system.
- Kuol, N., Stojanovska, L., Apostolopoulos, V., and Nurgali, K. (2018b). Role of the nervous system in cancer metastasis.
- Laouarem, Y. and Traiffort, E. (2018). Developmental and repairing production of myelin: The role of hedgehog signaling. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 12(September):1–10.
- Laranjeira, C., Sandgren, K., Kessaris, N., Richardson, W., Potocnik, A., Vanden Berghe, P., and Pachnis, V. (2011). Glial cells in the mouse enteric nervous system can undergo neurogenesis in response to injury. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 121(9):3412–3424.
- Laukova, M., Vargovic, P., Rokytova, I., Manz, G., and Kvetnansky, R. (2018). Repeated Stress Exaggerates Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Inflammatory Response in the Rat Spleen. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 38(1):195–208.
- Laureys, G., Gerlo, S., Spooren, A., Demol, F., De Keyser, J., and Aerts, J. L. (2014). β2-adrenergic agonists modulate TNF-α induced astrocytic inflammatory gene expression and brain inflammatory cell populations. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 11(1):1–10.

- Lecca, D., Ceruti, S., Fumagalli, M., and Abbracchio, M. P. (2012). Purinergic trophic signalling in glial cells: Functional effects and modulation of cell proliferation, differentiation, and death. *Purinergic Signalling*, 8(3):539–557.
- Lei, M. and Liu, X. X. (2016). Vagus nerve electrical stimulation inhibits serum levels of S100A8 protein in septic shock rats. *Molecular Medicine Reports*.
- Levine, Y. A., Koopman, F. A., Faltys, M., Caravaca, A., Bendele, A., Zitnik, R., Vervoordeldonk, M. J., and Tak, P. P. (2014). Neurostimulation of the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway ameliorates disease in rat collagen-induced arthritis. *PLoS ONE*, 9(8).
- Li, B. and Dewey, C. N. (2011). RSEM: accurate transcript quantification from RNA-Seq data with or without a reference genome. *BMC bioinformatics*, 12:323.
- Lian, H., Litvinchuk, A., Chiang, A. C., Aithmitti, N., Jankowsky, J. L., and Zheng, H. (2016). Astrocyte-microglia cross talk through complement activation modulates amyloid pathology in mouse models of alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 36(2):577–589.
- Lin, G., Zhang, H., Sun, F., Lu, Z., Reed-Maldonado, A., Lee, Y. C., Wang, G., Banie, L., and Lue, T. F. (2016). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor promotes nerve regeneration by activating the JAK/STAT pathway in Schwann cells. *Translational Andrology and Urology*, 5(2):167–175.
- Linneberg, C., Harboe, M., and Laursen, L. S. (2015). Axo-glia interaction preceding CNS myelination is regulated by bidirectional Eph-ephrin signaling. ASN Neuro, 7(5).
- Liu, H., Liu, G., and Bi, Y. (2014). CNTF regulates neurite outgrowth and neuronal migration through JAK2/STAT3 and PI3K/Akt signaling pathways of DRG explants with gp120-induced neurotoxicity in vitro. *Neuroscience Letters*, 569:110–115.
- Liu, J., Lamb, D., Chou, M. M., Liu, Y. J., and Li, G. (2007). Nerve growth factormediated neurite outgrowth via regulation of Rab5. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 18(4):1375–1384.
- Livak, K. J. and Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2- $\Delta\Delta$ CT method. *Methods*, 25(4):402–408.
- Love, M. I., Huber, W., and Anders, S. (2014). Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biology*, 15(12).

- M Nedergaard, B Ransom, S. G. (2003). New roles for astrocytes: redefining the functional architecture of the brain. *Trends Neurosci.*, 26:523–530.
- Ma, B., Yin, C., Hu, D., Newman, M., Nicholls, P. K., Wu, Z., Greene, W. K., and Shi, Z. (2018). Distribution of non-myelinating schwann cells and their associations with leukocytes in mouse spleen revealed by immunofluorescence staining. *European Journal of Histochemistry*, 62(2):33–42.
- Ma, Y., Liu, Y., Zhang, Z., and Yang, G. Y. (2019). Significance of complement system in ischemic stroke: A comprehensive review.
- MacNeil, B. J., Jansen, A. H., Greenberg, A. H., and Nance, D. M. (1996). Activation and selectivity of splenic sympathetic nerve electrical activity response to bacterial endotoxin. *The American journal of physiology*, 279(1 pt 2):264–270.
- Macvicar, B. A. and Newman, E. A. (2015). Astrocyte regulation of blood flow in the brain. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 7(5):1–15.
- Madden, K. S., Felten, S. Y., Felten, D. L., Hardy, C. A., and Livnat, S. (1994). Sympathetic nervous system modulation of the immune system. II. Induction of lymphocyte proliferation and migration in vivo by chemical sympathectomy. *Jour*nal of Neuroimmunology, 49(1-2):67–75.
- Marion, C. M., McDaniel, D. P., and Armstrong, R. C. (2019). Sarm1 deletion reduces axon damage, demyelination, and white matter atrophy after experimental traumatic brain injury. *Experimental Neurology*, 321(August):113040.
- Marquardt, L. M., Ee, X., Iyer, N., Hunter, D., Mackinnon, S. E., Wood, M. D., and Sakiyama-Elbert, S. E. (2015). Finely Tuned Temporal and Spatial Delivery of GDNF Promotes Enhanced Nerve Regeneration in a Long Nerve Defect Model. *Tissue Engineering - Part A*, 21(23-24):2852–2864.
- Martin, M. (2011). Cutadapt removes adapter sequences from high-throughput sequencing reads. *EMBnet.journal*, 17(1):10.
- Maynard, M. E., Redell, J. B., Zhao, J., Hood, K. N., Vita, S. M., Kobori, N., and Dash, P. K. (2020). Sarm1 loss reduces axonal damage and improves cognitive outcome after repetitive mild closed head injury. *Experimental Neurology*, 327.
- McCarthy, K. D. and Salm, A. K. (1991). Pharmacologically-distinct subsets of astroglia can be identified by their calcium response to neuroligands. *Neuroscience*, 41(2-3):325–333.

- McClain, J. L., Grubišić, V., Fried, D., Gomez-Suarez, R. A., Leinninger, G. M., Sévigny, J., Parpura, V., and Gulbransen, B. D. (2014). Ca2+ responses in enteric glia are mediated by connexin-43 hemichannels and modulate colonic transit in mice. *Gastroenterology*, 146(2):497–507.
- McCulloch, L., Smith, C. J., and McColl, B. W. (2017). Adrenergic-mediated loss of splenic marginal zone B cells contributes to infection susceptibility after stroke. *Nat Commun*, 8(1):15051.
- Meltzer, J. C., MacNeil, B. J., Sanders, V., Pylypas, S., Jansen, A. H., Greenberg, A. H., and Nance, D. M. (2003). Contribution of the adrenal glands and splenic nerve to LPS-induced splenic cytokine production in the rat. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 17(6):482–497.
- Meregnani, J., Clarençon, D., Vivier, M., Peinnequin, A., Mouret, C., Sinniger, V., Picq, C., Job, A., Canini, F., Jacquier-Sarlin, M., and Bonaz, B. (2011). Antiinflammatory effect of vagus nerve stimulation in a rat model of inflammatory bowel disease. *Autonomic Neuroscience: Basic and Clinical.*
- Miller, E. S., Apple, C. G., Kannan, K. B., Funk, Z. M., Plazas, J. M., Efron, P. A., and Mohr, A. M. (2019). Chronic stress induces persistent low-grade inflammation. *The American Journal of Surgery*, 218(4):677–683.
- Murray, K., Godinez, D. R., Brust-Mascher, I., Miller, E. N., Gareau, M. G., and Reardon, C. (2017). Neuroanatomy of the spleen: Mapping the relationship between sympathetic neurons and lymphocytes. *PloS one*, 12(7):e0182416.
- Nance, D. M. and Burns, J. (1989). Innervation of the spleen in the rat: Evidence for absence of afferent innervation. *Brain Behavior and Immunity*, 3(4):281–290.
- Nayak, D., Roth, T. L., and McGavern, D. B. (2014). Microglia Development and Function. Annual Review of Immunology, 32(1):367–402.
- Neuhuber, W., Mclachlan, E., and Jänig, W. (2017). The Sacral Autonomic Outflow Is Spinal, but Not "Sympathetic". *The Anatomical Record*, 300(8):1369–1370.
- Newbern, J. and Birchmeier, C. (2010). Nrg1/ErbB signaling networks in Schwann cell development and myelination. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 21(9):922–928.
- Newman, A. M., Steen, C. B., Liu, C. L., Gentles, A. J., Chaudhuri, A. A., Scherer, F., Khodadoust, M. S., Esfahani, M. S., Luca, B. A., Steiner, D., Diehn, M., and Alizadeh, A. A. (2019). Determining cell type abundance and expression from bulk tissues with digital cytometry. *Nature Biotechnology*, 37(July).

- Ni, H., Wang, Y., An, K., Liu, Q., Xu, L., Zhu, C., Deng, H., He, Q., Wang, T., Xu, M., Zheng, Y., Huang, B., Fang, J., and Yao, M. (2019). Crosstalk between NFκB-dependent astrocytic CXCL1 and neuron CXCR2 plays a role in descending pain facilitation. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 16(1):1–16.
- Nolte, M. A., Beliën, J. A., Schadee-Eestermans, I., Jansen, W., Unger, W. W., van Rooijen, N., Kraal, G., and Mebius, R. E. (2003). A Conduit System Distributes Chemokines and Small Blood-borne Molecules through the Splenic White Pulp. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 198(3):505–512.
- Novi, A. M. (1968). An electron microscopic study of the innervation of papillary muscles in the rat. *Anat Rec*, 160(1):123–141.
- Ntogwa, M., Imai, S., Hiraiwa, R., Koyanagi, M., Matsumoto, M., Ogihara, T., Nakagawa, S., Omura, T., Yonezawa, A., Nakagawa, T., and Matsubara, K. (2020). Schwann cell-derived CXCL1 contributes to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp120-induced neuropathic pain by modulating macrophage infiltration in mice. *Brain, behavior, and immunity*, 88(September 2019):325–339.
- Nualart-Marti, A., Solsona, C., and Fields, R. D. (2013). Gap junction communication in myelinating glia. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes, 1828(1):69–78.
- Offner, H., Subramanian, S., Parker, S. M., Wang, C., Afentoulis, M. E., Lewis, A., Vandenbark, A. A., and Hurn, P. D. (2006). Splenic atrophy in experimental stroke is accompanied by increased regulatory T cells and circulating macrophages. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)*, 176(11):6523–31.
- Park, M. H., Jin, H. K., Min, W., Lee, W. W., Lee, J. E., Akiyama, H., Herzog, H., Enikolopov, G. N., Schuchman, E. H., and Bae, J. (2015). Neuropeptide Y regulates the hematopoietic stem cell microenvironment and prevents nerve injury in the bone marrow. *The EMBO Journal*, 34(12):1648–1660.
- Pekny, M., Wilhelmsson, U., Bogestål, Y. R., and Pekna, M. (2007). The Role of Astrocytes and Complement System in Neural Plasticity.
- Pennypacker, K. R. and Offner, H. (2015). The role of the spleen in ischemic stroke. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism, 35(2):186–187.
- Perea, G., Navarrete, M., and Araque, A. (2009). Tripartite synapses: astrocytes process and control synaptic information. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 32(8):421–431.

- Pruss, H., Tedeschi, A., Thiriot, A., Lynch, L., Loughhead, S. M., Stutte, S., Mazo, I. B., Kopp, M. A., Brommer, B., Blex, C., Geurtz, L. C., Liebscher, T., Niedeggen, A., Dirnagl, U., Bradke, F., Volz, M. S., DeVivo, M. J., Chen, Y., von Andrian, U. H., Schwab, J. M., Prüss, H., Tedeschi, A., Thiriot, A., Lynch, L., Loughhead, S. M., Stutte, S., Mazo, I. B., Kopp, M. A., Brommer, B., Blex, C., Geurtz, L. C., Liebscher, T., Niedeggen, A., Dirnagl, U., Bradke, F., Volz, M. S., DeVivo, M. J., Chen, Y., von Andrian, U. H., and Schwab, J. M. (2017). Spinal cord injury-induced immunodeficiency is mediated by a sympathetic-neuroendocrine adrenal reflex. *Nat Neurosci*, 20(11):1549–1559.
- Quintas, C., Fraga, S., Gonçalves, J., and Queiroz, G. (2011). P2Y receptors on astrocytes and microglia mediate opposite effects in astroglial proliferation. *Purinergic Signalling*, 7(2):251–263.
- Rang, H. P., Maureen, M., Flower, R. J., and Henderson, G. (2016). Rang and Dale's pharmacology. In *Rang and Dale's pharmacology*, page 179. Elsevier, 8 edition.
- Rao, M., Nelms, B. D., Dong, L., Salinas-Rios, V., Rutlin, M., Gershon, M. D., and Corfas, G. (2015). Enteric glia express proteolipid protein 1 and are a transcriptionally unique population of glia in the mammalian nervous system. *Glia*, 63(11):2040–2057.
- Rao, M., Rastelli, D., Dong, L., Chiu, S., Setlik, W., Gershon, M. D., and Corfas, G. (2017). Enteric Glia Regulate Gastrointestinal Motility but Are Not Required for Maintenance of the Epithelium in Mice. *Gastroenterology*, 153(4):1068–1081.
- Recasens, M., Shrivastava, K., Almolda, B., González, B., and Castellano, B. (2019). Astrocyte-targeted IL-10 production decreases proliferation and induces a downregulation of activated microglia/macrophages after PPT. *GLIA*, 67(4):741–758.
- Ren, C., Li, X. H., Wang, S. B., Wang, L. X., Dong, N., Wu, Y., and Yao, Y. M. (2018). Activation of central alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor reverses suppressed immune function of T lymphocytes and protects against sepsis lethality. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 14(7):748–759.
- Ritzel, R. M., Doran, S. J., Barrett, J. P., Henry, R. J., Ma, E. L., Faden, A. I., and Loane, D. J. (2018). Chronic Alterations in Systemic Immune Function after Traumatic Brain Injury. *Journal of Neurotrauma*, 35(13):1419–1436.
- Rolland, B., Le Prince, G., Fages, C., Nunez, J., and Tardy, M. (1990). GFAP turnover during astroglial proliferation and differentiation. *Developmental Brain Research*, 56(1):144–149.

- Rosas-Ballina, M., Ochani, M., Parrish, W. R., Ochani, K., Harris, Y. T., Huston, J. M., Chavan, S., and Tracey, K. J. (2008). Splenic nerve is required for cholinergic antiinflammatory pathway control of TNF in endotoxemia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(31):11008–11013.
- Rühl, A., Nasser, Y., and Sharkey, K. A. (2004). Enteric glia. In *Neurogastroenterology* and *Motility*, volume 16, pages 44–49.
- Sauder, C., Hallensleben, W., Pagenstecher, A., Schneckenburger, S., Biro, L., Pertlik, D., Hausmann, J., Suter, M., and Staeheli, P. (2000). Chemokine Gene Expression in Astrocytes of Borna Disease Virus-Infected Rats and Mice in the Absence of Inflammation. *Journal of Virology*, 74(19):9267–9280.
- Savidge, T. C., Newman, P., Pothoulakis, C., Ruhl, A., Neunlist, M., Bourreille, A., Hurst, R., and Sofroniew, M. V. (2007). Enteric glia regulate intestinal barrier function and inflammation via release of S-nitrosoglutathione. *Gastroenterology*, 132(4):1344–1358.
- Scemes, E. and Giaume, C. (2006). Astrocyte calcium waves: What they are and what they do.
- Schäfer, K. H. and Mestres, P. (1999). The GDNF-induced neurite outgrowth and neuronal survival in dissociated myenteric plexus cultures of the rat small intestine decreases postnatally. *Experimental Brain Research*, 125(4):447–452.
- Schaum, N., Karkanias, J., Neff, N. F., May, A. P., Quake, S. R., Wyss-Coray, T., Darmanis, S., Batson, J., Botvinnik, O., Chen, M. B., Chen, S., Green, F., Jones, R. C., Maynard, A., Penland, L., Pisco, A. O., Sit, R. V., Stanley, G. M., Webber, J. T., Zanini, F., Baghel, A. S., Bakerman, I., Bansal, I., Berdnik, D., Bilen, B., Brownfield, D., Cain, C., Cho, M., Cirolia, G., Conley, S. D., Demers, A., Demir, K., de Morree, A., Divita, T., du Bois, H., Dulgeroff, L. B. T., Ebadi, H., Espinoza, F. H., Fish, M., Gan, Q., George, B. M., Gillich, A., Genetiano, G., Gu, X., Gulati, G. S., Hang, Y., Hosseinzadeh, S., Huang, A., Iram, T., Isobe, T., Ives, F., Kao, K. S., Karnam, G., Kershner, A. M., Kiss, B. M., Kong, W., Kumar, M. E., Lam, J. Y., Lee, D. P., Lee, S. E., Li, G., Li, Q., Liu, L., Lo, A., Lu, W. J., Manjunath, A., May, K. L., May, O. L., McKay, M., Metzger, R. J., Mignardi, M., Min, D., Nabhan, A. N., Ng, K. M., Noh, J., Patkar, R., Peng, W. C., Puccinelli, R., Rulifson, E. J., Sikandar, S. S., Sinha, R., Szade, K., Tan, W., Tato, C., Tellez, K., Travaglini, K. J., Tropini, C., Waldburger, L., van Weele, L. J., Wosczyna, M. N., Xiang, J., Xue, S., Youngyunpipatkul, J., Zardeneta, M. E., Zhang, F., Zhou, L., Castro, P., Croote, D., DeRisi, J. L., Kuo, C. S., Lehallier, B., Nguyen, P. K., Tan, S. Y., Wang, B. M., Yousef, H., Beachy, P. A., Chan, C. K., Huang, K. C., Weinberg, K., Wu,

S. M., Barres, B. A., Clarke, M. F., Kim, S. K., Krasnow, M. A., Nusse, R., Rando, T. A., Sonnenburg, J., and Weissman, I. L. (2018). Single-cell transcriptomics of 20 mouse organs creates a Tabula Muris. *Nature*, 562(7727):367–372.

- Seifert, H. A., Hall, A. A., Chapman, C. B., Collier, L. A., Willing, A. E., and Pennypacker, K. R. (2012). A transient decrease in spleen size following stroke corresponds to splenocyte release into systemic circulation. *Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology*, 7(4):1017–1024.
- Serrano-Pozo, A., Gómez-Isla, T., Growdon, J. H., Frosch, M. P., and Hyman, B. T. (2013). A phenotypic change but not proliferation underlies glial responses in Alzheimer disease. *American Journal of Pathology*, 182(6):2332–2344.
- Sgroi, S., Kaelin-Lang, A., and Capper-Loup, C. (2014). Spontaneous locomotor activity and L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia are not linked in 6-OHDA parkinsonian rats. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 8(OCT):331.
- Simonini, M. V., Polak, P. E., Sharp, A., McGuire, S., Galea, E., and Feinstein, D. L. (2010). Increasing CNS noradrenaline reduces EAE severity. *Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology*, 5(2):252–259.
- Sofroniew, M. V. (2009). Molecular dissection of reactive astrogliosis and glial scar formation.
- Sprent, J., Zhang, X., Sun, S., and Tough, D. (2000). T-cell proliferation in vivo and the role of cytokines. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 355(1395):317–322.
- Stogsdill, J. A., Ramirez, J., Liu, D., Kim, Y. H., Baldwin, K. T., Enustun, E., Ejikeme, T., Ji, R. R., and Eroglu, C. (2017). Astrocytic neuroligins control astrocyte morphogenesis and synaptogenesis. *Nature*, 551(7679):192–197.
- Suarez-Mier, G. B. and Buckwalter, M. S. (2015). Glial fibrillary acidic proteinexpressing glia in the mouse lung. *ASN Neuro*, 7(5).
- Tan, C. M., Green, P., Tapoulal, N., Lewandowski, A. J., Leeson, P., and Herring, N. (2018). The role of neuropeptide Y in cardiovascular health and disease. *Frontiers* in *Physiology*, 9(SEP):1–13.
- Tanaka, S., Hammond, B., Rosin, D. L., and Okusa, M. D. (2019). Neuroimmunomodulation of tissue injury and disease: an expanding view of the inflammatory reflex pathway. *Bioelectronic Medicine*, 5(1):1–11.

- Tindle, J. and Tadi, P. (2020). *Neuroanatomy, Parasympathetic Nervous System*. StatPearls Publishing.
- Tomov, N. (2020). Glial cells in intracerebral transplantation for Parkinson's disease.
- Tsaava, T., Datta-Chaudhuri, T., Addorisio, M. E., Masi, E. B., Silverman, H. A., Newman, J. E., Imperato, G. H., Bouton, C., Tracey, K. J., Chavan, S. S., and Chang, E. H. (2020). Specific vagus nerve stimulation parameters alter serum cytokine levels in the absence of inflammation. *Bioelectronic Medicine*, 6(1).
- Turco, F., Sarnelli, G., Cirillo, C., Palumbo, I., De Giorgi, F., D'Alessandro, A., Cammarota, M., Giuliano, M., and Cuomo, R. (2014). Enteroglial-derived S100B protein integrates bacteria-induced Toll-like receptor signalling in human enteric glial cells. *Gut*, 63(1):105–115.
- Van Wagoner, N. J., Oh, J. W., Repovic, P., and Benveniste, E. N. (1999). Interleukin-6 (IL-6) production by astrocytes: Autocrine regulation by IL-6 and the soluble IL-6 receptor. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 19(13):5236–5244.
- Veiga-Fernandes, H. and Artis, D. (2018). Neuronal-immune system cross-talk in homeostasis.
- Verdú, E. and Navarro, X. (1997). Comparison of immunohistochemical and functional reinnervation of skin and muscle after peripheral nerve injury. *Experimental Neurology*, 146(1):187–198.
- Vermi, W., Lonardi, S., Bosisio, D., Uguccioni, M., Danelon, G., Pileri, S., Fletcher, C., Sozzani, S., Zorzi, F., Arrigoni, G., Doglioni, C., Ponzoni, M., and Facchetti, F. (2008). Identification of CXCL13 as a new marker for follicular dendritic cell sarcoma. *Journal of Pathology*, 216(3):356–364.
- Vida, G., Peña, G., Deitch, E. A., and Ulloa, L. (2011). α7-Cholinergic Receptor Mediates Vagal Induction of Splenic Norepinephrine. *The Journal of Immunology*, 186(7):4340–4346.
- Von Boyen, G. and Steinkamp, M. (2010). The role of enteric glia in gut inflammation. Neuron Glia Biology, 6(4):231–236.
- Von Boyen, G. B., Schulte, N., Pflüger, C., Spaniol, U., Hartmann, C., and Steinkamp, M. (2011). Distribution of enteric glia and GDNF during gut inflammation. BMC Gastroenterology, 11.
- Von Boyen, G. B., Steinkamp, M., Reinshagen, M., Schäfer, K. H., Adler, G., and Kirsch, J. (2004). Proinflammatory cytokines increase glial fibrillary acidic protein expression in enteric glia. *Gut*, 53(2):222–228.

- Voskuhl, R. R., Peterson, R. S., Song, B., Ao, Y., Morales, L. B. J., Tiwari-Woodruff, S., and Sofroniew, M. V. (2009). Reactive astrocytes form scar-like perivascular barriers to leukocytes during adaptive immune inflammation of the CNS. *Journal* of Neuroscience, 29(37):11511–11522.
- Wakida, N. M., Cruz, G. M. S., Ro, C. C., Moncada, E. G., Khatibzadeh, N., Flanagan, L. A., and Berns, M. W. (2018). Phagocytic response of astrocytes to damaged neighboring cells. *PLoS ONE*, 13(4).
- Waxenbaum, J. A. and Varacallo, M. (2019). Anatomy, Autonomic Nervous System. StatPearls Publishing.
- Westfall, D. P., Todorov, L. D., and Mihaylova-Todorova, S. T. (2002). ATP as a cotransmitter in sympathetic nerves and its inactivation by releasable enzymes. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 303(2):439–444.
- Wiese, S., Karus, M., and Faissner, A. (2012). Astrocytes as a source for extracellular matrix molecules and cytokines. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 3 JUN(June):1–13.
- Workel, H. H., Lubbers, J. M., Arnold, R., Prins, T. M., van der Vlies, P., de Lange, K., Bosse, T., van Gool, I. C., Eggink, F. A., Wouters, M. C., Komdeur, F. L., van der Slikke, E. C., Creutzberg, C. L., Kol, A., Plat, A., Glaire, M., Church, D. N., Nijman, H. W., and de Bruyn, M. (2019). A Transcriptionally Distinct CXCL13+ CD103+ CD8+ T-cell Population Is Associated with B-cell Recruitment and Neoantigen Load in Human Cancer. *Cancer Immunology Research*, 7(5):784– 796.
- Wu, L., Tai, Y., Hu, S., Zhang, M., Wang, R., Zhou, W., Tao, J., Han, Y., Wang, Q., and Wei, W. (2018). Bidirectional role of β 2-adrenergic receptor in autoimmune diseases.
- Xie, L. and Yang, S. H. (2015). Interaction of astrocytes and T cells in physiological and pathological conditions.
- Yanger, K., Zong, Y., Maggs, L. R., Shapira, S. N., Maddipati, R., Aiello, N. M., Thung, S. N., Wells, R. G., Greenbaum, L. E., and Stanger, B. Z. (2013). Robust cellular reprogramming occurs spontaneously during liver regeneration. *Genes and Development*, 27(7):719–724.
- Yuan, Y. M. and He, C. (2013). The glial scar in spinal cord injury and repair.
- Zenobia, C. and Hajishengallis, G. (2015). Basic biology and role of interleukin-17 in immunity and inflammation. *Periodontology 2000*, 69(1):142–159.

- Zhang, J.-H. (2014). Role of the Sympathetic Nervous System and Spleen in Experimental Stroke-Induced Immunodepression. *Medical Science Monitor*, 20:2489–2496.
- Zhang, Y., Chen, K., Sloan, S. A., Bennett, M. L., Scholze, A. R., O'Keeffe, S., Phatnani, H. P., Guarnieri, P., Caneda, C., Ruderisch, N., Deng, S., Liddelow, S. A., Zhang, C., Daneman, R., Maniatis, T., Barres, B. A., and Wu, J. Q. (2014). An RNA-Sequencing Transcriptome and Splicing Database of Glia, Neurons, and Vascular Cells of the Cerebral Cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(36):11929– 11947.
- Ziogas, N. K. and Koliatsos, V. E. (2018). Primary traumatic axonopathy in mice subjected to impact acceleration: A reappraisal of pathology and mechanisms with high-resolution anatomical methods. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 38(16):4031–4047.
- Zuliani-Alvarez, L., Marzeda, A. M., Deligne, C., Schwenzer, A., McCann, F. E., Marsden, B. D., Piccinini, A. M., and Midwood, K. S. (2017). Mapping tenascin-C interaction with toll-like receptor 4 reveals a new subset of endogenous inflammatory triggers. *Nature Communications*, 8(1):1–14.